

Leach, Joshua David George (2014) *Characterising the tumour microenvironment in pancreatic cancer and the changes elicited by targeted therapies.* MSc. thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/5609/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten:Theses http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

# Characterising the tumour microenvironment in pancreatic cancer and the changes elicited by targeted therapies

By

Joshua David George Leach

Thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Master of Research

February 2014

Beatson Institute for Cancer Research

Garscube Estate

Switchback road

Glasgow, G61 1BD

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents	2
Summary	6
Objectives	7
Acknowledgements	8
Author's declaration	9
List of Figures	10
Abbreviations	12

Chapter 1 Introduction	15
1.1 Biology of the Pancreas	15
1.2 Pancreatic cancer	15
1.3 KRas and MAPK signalling	17
1.4 p53	17
1.5 Genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models of pancreatic cancer	17
1.6 Tumour microenvironment	18
1.7 Available methods for tumour microenvironment characterisation	20
1.8 Important stromal targets established within our lab	21
1.9 Tenascin C	21
1.10 Lysyl-oxidase	25
1.11 CXCR2 signalling	26
1.12 Project aims	28

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods29	
. 29	
. 29	
. 29	
. 30	
.30	
.30	
. 30	
. 30	
30	
.31	
.31	
• • • • • •	

2.7.3 Tenascin C (anti-mouse)	32
2.7.4 Glial acidic fibrillary protein (GFAP)	32
2.8 Primary cell culture	32
2.8.1 Medium for cell culture	32
2.8.2 PDAC, primary cell line establishment and culture	33
2.9 Subcutaneous tumour growth in mice	33
2.10 Orthotopic models of pancreatic cancer	33
2.11 Scoring	33
2.11.1 Necrosis scoring	34
2.11.2 Imunohistochemistry pixel quantification	34
2.12 Statistics	35
2.12.1 Scoring experiments	35
2.12.2 Tissue microarray analysis	35
2.12.3 TMA histoscoring	35
2.12.4 TMA survival analysis	36
2.12.5 TMA correlation	36
2.13 RNA microarray analysis	36

Chapter 3 Results
3.1 Establishing a method for quantification of stromal constituents in the KPC model
3.2 Characterising the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs40
3.2.1 Establishing the normal presence of immune cells within pancreata and KPC PDAC stroma40
3.2.2 Determining the presence of apoptosis and necrosis in normal pancreata and KPC PDACs42
3.2.3 Characterisation of myofibroblasts/stellate cells in KPC models of PDAC
3.2.4 Establishing the presence of blood vessels in the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs46
3.2.5 Establishing the presence of collagen within the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs
3.2.6 Establishing the presence of tenascin C within the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs47
3.3 Tenascin C in Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma47
3.3.1 Mutant p53 causes an increase in intra-tumoural tenascin C expression compared with loss of p5347
3.3.2 Tenascin C is produced by the tumour stroma and not the tumour epithelium48

3.3.3 Tenascin C is produced by the tumour epithelium in the absence of stromal production51
3.4 Tenascin C and its importance in human PDAC52
3.4.1 Tenascin C is produced by the stroma of human PDAC and high levels of expression correlate significantly with survival52
3.4.2 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with hypoxia in human PDAC54
3.4.3 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with proliferation in human PDAC54
3.4.4 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with integrin signaling in human PDAC54
3.4.5 Tenascin C expression is significantly associated with both tumour grade and vascular invasion in human PDAC
3.4.6 Tenascin C expression is significantly associated with lysyl-oxidase expression in PDAC
3.5 Evaluating stromal changes elicited by stromal targeting treatments in the KPC model of PDAC57
3.6 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in the KPC model57
3.6.1 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition delays tumourigenesis and stops metastasis
3.6.2 Characterising the effects of Lox-Ab and gemcitabine treatment on the KPC tumour epithelium and microenvironment58
3.6.3 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition significantly reduces the tumoural expression of tenascin C in KPC mice
3.6.4 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition significantly increases intra-tumoural microvessel density60
3.6.5 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in conjunction with gemcitabine treatment significantly
increases intra-tumoural necrosis but has no significant effect on apoptosis60
3.6.6 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine significantly increases intra- tumoural leukocyte infiltration63
3.7 CXCR2 inhibition in the KPC model
3.7.1 CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases survival in KPC mice
3.7.2 CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis but has no effect on apoptosis
3.7.3 CXCR2 inhibition significantly reduces intra-tumoural microvessel density
3.7.4 CXCR2 inhibition increases intra-tumoural expression of tenascin C in KPC mice71
3.7.5 CXCR2 inhibition reduces intra-tumoural leukocyte infiltration in KPC mice72
3.7.6 CXCR2 inhibition reduces intra-tumoural collagen and elastin and intra-tumoural myofibroblast number in KPC mice75
3.8 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out in the KPC model77
3.8.1 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out reduces intra-tumoural neutrophil infiltration in KPC mice77

3.8.2 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out does not alter intra-tumoural microvessel density in KPC
mice
3.8.3 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out does not alter intra-tumoural expression of tenascin C in
KPC mice

Chapter 4 Discussion8
4.1 Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and the importance of its microenvironment82
4.2 Establishing robust methods for stromal characterisation82
4.3 Stromal characterisation of the KPC model of PDAC82
4.3.1 Characterisation of myofibroblasts and pancreatic stellate cell numbers in PDAC82
4.3.2 Stromal characterization highlights the increased levels of tenascin C in KPC stroma84
4.4 Tenascin C in PDAC
4.5 Lysyl-oxidase in PDAC
4.6 CXCR2 signalling in PDAC92
4.7 The interlinked roles of lysyl-oxidse, CXCR2 and Tenascin C in PDAC90
Future Work9
References

#### SUMMARY

Pancreatic cancer represents less than 3% of cancers diagnosed each year in the United Kingdom yet despite this low number, it is the fifth highest cause of death by cancer. This situation has changed little in the past few decades with median survival barely altering between 1971 and 2007. The availability of well characterised in vivo models that histologically recapitulate pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) have revolutionised the field of PDAC research. These models not only recapitulate the central epithelial component of human pancreatic cancer but also the incredibly complex microenvironment, a feature for which PDAC is well known. Due to the failure of therapies targeting the neoplastic epithelial cells within PDAC, increasing interest has been given to targeting the tumour microenvironment. The tumour microenvironment is extremely complex and consists of both cellular and non-cellular components and in PDAC exhibits a number of characteristic features including the presence of pancreatic stellate cells. Work in our lab has also highlighted stromal constituents such as lysyloxidase and tenascin C which are vital for PDAC viability and/or metastasis. In recent years increasing numbers of stromal targets have been evaluated in mouse models of PDAC with varying success. To date work characterising the stromal changes elicited by targeted therapies has utilised methods which we believe lack the required fastidiousness required to obtain reliable and meaningful results. In this work we have established reliable methods for stromal characterisation, we have established methods to characterise the expression of tenascin C on formalin fixed specimens and we have applied these methods to determine the changes elicited by stromal targeting therapies.

#### OBJECTIVES

In this study we aimed to establish methods to reliably characterise the composition of the tumour microenvironment. We aimed to evaluate the expression of tenascin C in our murine models of PDAC and determine its importance in both these models and in human disease. Finally we aimed to utilise these methods to determine the effects of lysyl-oxidase inhibition and CXCR2 inhibition on the stroma in murine models of PDAC.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank The Beatson Institute for Cancer Research and Cancer Research UK for funding me and providing the opportunity to undertake this project.

Thank you to Professor Owen Sansom for his enthusiasm and for welcoming me into his lab and giving me the guidance and support required throughout this project.

Thank you to Dr. Karen Blyth for the help and support she has offered throughout this project. From day one she always made me feel welcome to seek her help, for this I am truly grateful.

I would like to thank Colin Steele and the whole of R14 and R18 for their endless patience and the time they have taken to show me the techniques required. Huge thanks go to Colin Steele as he particularly gave me his time and energy and guided me through this project whilst he himself has been undertaking a PhD.

## **AUTHOR'S DECLARATION**

I declare that I am the sole author of this thesis and the work presented here has been done by myself in collaboration with other members of the lab.

The results from the work undertaken determining the effects of CXCR2 inhibition discussed here will form part of a thesis to be submitted by Colin Steele for PhD to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Glasgow in 2014.

The results of the work undertaken determining the effects of CXCR2 inhibition and lysyl-oxidase inhibition on the survival of mice developing pancreatic cancer have been included in this thesis in order to present the thesis in the relevant wider context.

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Overview of the evolution of PDAC17
Figure 2: Counting 30 non-consecutive fields of view reliably quantifies any stromal constituent within a tumour
Figure 3: Establishing the normal presence of Neutrophils (MPO), macrophages (F4/80) and T cells (CD3) within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC stroma41
Figure 4: Determining the presence of apoptosis and necrosis in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue42
Figure 5: Characterisation of alphaSMA positive cells within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue
Figure 6: Stellate cells within normal murine pancreas44
Figure 7: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in KPC mice44
Figure 8: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in human PDAC45
Figure 9: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in KPC mice45
Figure 10: Microvessels within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue46
Figure 11: Stromal collagen in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue46
Figure 12: Tenascin C presence within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue
Figure 13: Presence of gain-of-function mutant p53 as opposed to loss of p53 causes a significant increase in the production of tenascin C in tumours in KPC mice
Figure 14: Tenascin C antibodies provide species specific immunohistochemical staining of human and murine tissues
Figure 15: Species specific Tenascin C immunohistochemistry provides evidence for the stromal production of tenascin C
Figure 16: Tenascin C expression is predominantly stromal however it may also be expressed within the tumour epithelium
Figure 17: Tenascin C expression is significantly associated with survival in human PDAC53
Figure 18: Tenascin C expression significantly correlates with proliferation, hypoxia and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta6$ in human PDAC TMA analysis55
Figure 19: Tenascin C expression significantly correlates with tumour grade55
Figure 20: Tenascin C expression significantly correlates with lysyl-oxidase expression in human PDAC RNA microarray analysis
Figure 21: Lox inhibition significantly delays tumourigenesis and stops metastasis in KPC mice
Figure 22: Lysyl oxidase inhibition significantly reduces the expression of tenascin C in KPC tumours
Figure 23: Tenascin C expression is predominantly stromal however it may also be expressed within the tumour epithelium

Figure 24: Lysyl oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis in KPC mice
Figure 25: Lysyl oxidase inhibition has no significant effect on apoptosis in PDAC in KPC mice63
Figure 26: Lysyl oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural neutrophil infiltrates in KPC mice
Figure 27: Lysyl oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural macrophage infiltration in KPC mice
Figure 28: CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases survival in KPC mice
Figure 29: CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases necrosis in KPC tumours
Figure 30: CXCR2 inhibition has no effect on apoptosis in KPC tumours
Figure 31: CXCR2 inhibition significantly decreases vessel count in KPC tumours70
Figure 32: CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases the expression of tenascin c in KPC tumours 71
Figure 33: CXCR2 inhibition decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice (haematoxylin and eosin stain)
Figure 34: CXCR2 inhibition decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice (MPO immunostaining)73
Figure 35: CXCR2 inhibition decreases macrophage tumour infiltration in KPC mice74
Figure 36: CXCR2 inhibition decreases collagen and elastin in KPC tumours76
Figure 37: CXCR2 inhibition decreases myofibroblast numbers in KPC tumours77
Figure 38: CXCR2 KO decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice78
Figure 39: CXCR2 KO has no effect on vessel count in KPC tumours79
Figure 40: CXCR2 KO has no effect on tenascin C expression in KPC tumours80
Figure 41: LOX expression and Hypoxia are significantly associated with survival in human PDAC90
Figure 42: The roles of Lysyl-oxidase, CXCR2 and Tenascin C in PDAC96

#### 12

## ABBREVIATIONS

alphaSMA	alpha smooth muscle actin
BMP-1	Bone morphogenetic protein 1
Brca2	Breast cancer 2, early onset
CD3	Cluster of differentiation protein 3
CD31	Cluster of differentiation protein 31
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
CXCL	C-X-C motif ligand
CXCR1	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 1
CXCR2	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 2
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzanthracene
DKK1	Dickkopf-related protein 1
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediainetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidemal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
Erk	Extracellular-signal-related kinases
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FOV	Field of view
GDP	Guanosine diphosphate
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin
HIF-1alpha	Hypoxia inducible factor 1alpha

HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
H2AX	H2A histone family member X
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL-1beta	Interleukin 1beta
IL-8	Interleukin 8
IL-10	Interleukin 10
Ki67	Antigen Ki-67
КО	Knock out
КРС	Pdx-Cre, LSL-Kras <sup>G12D</sup> , LSL-Trp53 <sup>R172H</sup> mouse
KPfIC	Pdx-Cre, LSL-Kras <sup>G12D</sup> , LSL-Trp53 <sup>loxP</sup> mouse
KRas	V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
LOX	Lysyl-oxidase
LOX-Ab	Lysyl-oxidase neutralising antibody
LSL	LoxP-STOP-LoxP
MET (HGFR)	Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MOM	Mouse on mouse
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NGS	Normal goat serum
PanIN	Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PDAC	Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
Pdx1	Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1
Pepducin	½i-pal peptide (Genscript) CXCR2 inhibiting peptide
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

- qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- RBCs Red blood cells
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- RT Room temperature
- Shh Sonic hedgehog
- shRNA Short hairpin RNA
- TBS Tris-buffered Saline
- TBST Tris-buffered saline ad Tween
- TGFβ Transforming Growth Factor β
- TLR4 Toll-like receptor 4
- TMA Tissue microarray
- TNC Tenascin C
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- WT Wild type

# Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Biology of the pancreas

The pancreas is both an endocrine and an exocrine gland, the endocrine pancreas being composed of the islets of Langerhans and the exocrine pancreas being composed of ducts and acini. These acini connect to the gastrointestinal tract through a system of ducts which converge eventually joining the common bile duct which enters the duodenum. The ducts are lined by a simple cuboidal epithelium surrounding a central lumen (see Fig. 1).

#### **1.2 Pancreatic cancer**

Pancreatic cancer represents less than 3% of cancers diagnosed each year in the United Kingdom (http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancer-info/cancerstats/). Despite this low number, it is the fifth highest cause of death by cancer with a median survival post-diagnosis of only 6 months and a five year survival rate of less than 5%. This situation has changed little in the past few decades with median survival barely altering between 1971 and 2007. Patients are often diagnosed late with aggressive and metastatic cancer making the disease particularly difficult to treat. For this reason, surgical resection is possible for only 20% of pancreatic cancer patients. Even in patients with surgically resectable tumours who receive adjuvant chemotherapy the five year survival rate only increases from 5% to 15-20%.

Over the same time period during which the prognosis for pancreatic cancer has remained unchanged other tumour types such as melanoma have seen dramatic increases in survival as a result of the development of therapies that target specific molecular alterations within the cancer cells themselves (Jang and Atkins 2013; Yauch and Settleman 2012). This approach is yet to yield similar results in pancreatic cancer with the current standard-of-care chemotherapeutic gemcitabine producing only a minimal survival increase in addition to its palliative effects.

The most common cancer affecting the pancreas is Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma (PDAC), with the majority of cases being sporadic. A number of risk factors have been associated with PDAC including; *breast cancer type 2* 

(brca2) and *liver kinase B1* (lkb1) germline mutations (Jaffee, Hruban et al. 2002). These risk factors however only account for around 5% of PDAC cases.

In common with a number of other cancers, pancreatic cancer is characterised by a series of early preneoplastic lesions. These lesions are called pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN) and occur in three stages, PanIN 1, 2 and 3 (see Fig. 1). The PanIN1 stage however is divided into PanIN1A and PanIN1B, defined by specific histological characterisics (Hruban, Goggins et al. 2000; Hruban, Adsay et al. 2001; Kern, Hruban et al. 2001). PanIN1A lesions are characterised by flat epithelial lesions composed of tall columnar cells which have basally situated nuclei and abundant supranuclear mucin. PanIN1B lesions although similar to PanIN1A lesions demonstrate papillary. micropapillary basally а or pseudostratified architecture. PanIN2 lesions may be flat but are generally papillary and must exhibit nuclear abnormalities with loss of polarity, hyperchromatism, nuclear crowding and/or anisokaryosis. PanIN3 lesions show greater nuclear abnormalities and disorganisation than PanIN2 lesions with duct epithelial cells appearing to "bud off" into the lumen of the duct, loss of cell polarity, abundant mucin production and increased/abnormal mitoses. Finally carcinoma occurs when neoplastic cells invade through the basement membrane. Carcinomas may further progress with loss of differentiation, generation of a marked stromal reaction and ultimately disseminated metastatic disease.

With KRas being mutated in over 90% of cases and genes such as p16<sup>INK4A</sup> and p53 being mutated in over 50% of cases a genetic progression model has been described for PDAC (Hruban, Wilentz et al. 2000; Almoguera, Shibata et al. 1988; Smit, Boot et al. 1988; Hruban, van Mansfield et al. 1993; van Es, Polak et al. 1995). *KRas* mutation alone in mouse models of pancreatic cancer is capable of reproducing the stepwise progression to PDAC seen in human patients (Hingorani, Perticoin et al. 2003) however this model has a long latency suggesting a requirement for further mutations, such as loss or mutation of p53, in order to allow progression to PDAC.

## Figure 1: Overview of the evolution of PDAC

Initially KRas mutation alone is sufficient to allow PanIN 1 formation. Gradual evolution subsequently occurs with the accumulation of further mutations allowing progression through PanIN stages to adenoma and eventually adenocarcinoma. (Images by Jennifer Morton).



## 1.3 KRas and MAPK signalling

KRas is a small GTP-binding protein and an important component of the MAPK signalling pathway. Ras when released from its association with GDP is able to bind GTP and subsequently activate downstream signalling predominantly through Raf, MEK and ERK. Importantly oncogenic forms of Ras are constitutively active and have been shown to trigger transformation, invasion and angiogenesis (Ellis and Clark 2000).

## 1.4 *p*53

Encoded by the gene *TP53*, p53 has a vital role in regulating the cell cycle and conserving the stability and integrity of the genome (Strachan and Read, 1999). Under situations of stress, such as DNA damage or hypoxia, activation of p53 permits its translocation to the nucleus where it modulates the transcription of a wide variety of gene targets. This altered transcription results in quiescence, senescence or apoptosis (Shaw, Bovey et al. 1992; Diller, Kassel et al. 1990). TP53 mutation occurs in 50-70% of human PDAC following an initiating KRas mutation. Mutation of p53 does not necessarily result in the loss of p53 protein expression, in fact commonly it results in the expression of a stable gain-of-function p53 protein that when present specifically promotes metastasis (Morton, Timpson et al. 2010).

## 1.5 Genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models of pancreatic cancer

The availability of well characterised *in vivo* models that histologically recapitulate pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma have revolutionised the field of PDAC research. These models not only recapitulate the central epithelial component of human

pancreatic cancer but also the incredibly complex microenvironment, the importance of which will be discussed in detail in this thesis. As such they provide a unique opportunity, unavailable *in vitro*, to develop a deeper understanding of the processes governing the composition of the microenvironment as well as the ability to trial targetted therapies, often combinatorial, and determine their therapeutic potential.

The models used in this work have been previously described and include the Pdx-Cre, LSL-Kras<sup>G12D</sup>, LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H</sup>, LSL-Trp53<sup>IoxP</sup>, CXCR2-/- and Tenascin C-/- mouse strains (Hingorani, Perticoin et al. 2003; Olive, Tuveson 2004; Jackson, Willis et al. 2001; Jamieson, Clarke et al. 2012). The main mouse model used in this work is the KPC model previously described by Hingorani et al. 2003. This model utilises Pdx driven Cre recombinase in conjunction with LSL-Kras<sup>G12D</sup> and LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H</sup>. The resulting expression of the Cre recombinase enzyme under the control of the Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 promoter results in recombination and expression of Kras<sup>G12D</sup> and LSL-Trp53<sup>R172H</sup> within pancreatic tissues.

#### **1.6 Tumour microenvironment**

Due to the failure of therapies targeting the neoplastic epithelial cells within PDAC, increasing interest has been given to targeting the tumour microenvironment, a characteristic for which PDAC is well known (Feig, Gopinathan et al. 2012). Many epithelial cancers are able to induce a desmoplastic reaction with the accumulation of stromal cells and their products around the tumour epithelium. Pancreatic cancer, particularly PDAC, shows a particularly prominent desmoplastic reaction which can account for up to 90% of the tumour volume.

The tumour microenvironment is an extremely complex "ecosystem" consisting of both cellular and non-cellular components (Feig, Gopinathan et al. 2012). The non-cellular fraction is made up of an extracellular matrix (ECM) including structural proteins such as collagens and fibronectin as well as soluble factors and enzymes such as cytokines, growth factors and proteinases. The cellular components of the tumour microenvironment include; myofibroblasts (activated fibroblasts), inflammatory/immune cells, blood vessels and pancreatic stellate cells (Feig, Gopinathan et al. 2012).

In addition to the high percentage of the tumour that is made up by stroma; PDAC is also unique in the composition of that stroma. The pancreas, similar to the liver, contains a population of stellate cells which, upon activation, are considered vital in the production of the characteristic desmoplastic reaction seen in PDAC (Apte, Park et al. 2004).

Pancreatic stellate cells in the normal pancreas are located surrounding the base of pancreatic acinar cells and are characterised by a central cell body and long cytoplasmic processes (Apte, Haber et al. 1998). Quiescent pancreatic stellate cells contain large numbers of cytoplasmic lipid droplets that are high in vitamin A; these are lost once a stellate cell becomes activated (Apte, Haber et al. 1998). Pancreatic stellate cells are also characterised by the presence of Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP), desmin, vimentin, nestin and synemin (Wehr, Furth et al. 2011; Apte, Park et al. 2004). Upon activation pancreatic stellate cells take on a myofibroblast-like phenotype expressing alphaSMA (Apte, Park et al. 2004). They are highly motile and contractile and have a high mitotic index. They are thought to be responsible for the production of a wide variety of ECM proteins (e.g. collagen I, III, XI, fibronectin, periostin, tenascin C), matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), neurotrophic fators (e.g. NGF, Ach), growth factors and cytokines (e.g. PDGF, FGF, TGFβ, CTGF, IL-1beta, IL-8, VEGF) and are therefore seen to be centrally placed in orchestrating the desmoplastic reaction characteristic of PDAC (Apte, Park et al. 2004). Additional roles for stellate cell derived myofibroblasts in immune suppression have also been highlighted by Fearon et al. in which ablation of fibroblast activation protein alpha (FAP) positive cells, a population of alphaSMA positive myofibroblasts, permitted immunological control of tumour growth (Kraman, Bambrough et al. 2010).

One further feature that characterises the PDAC microenvironment is the low density, poorly functional vascular supply within the tumour (Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012). It is this poor vascular supply in conjunction with the desmoplastic reaction that is thought to play a major role in limiting the efficacy of current

cytotoxics, such as gemcitabine, through limited drug delivery and hypoxia induced drug resistance (Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012).

As well as being incredibly complex in its composition, the tumour microenvironment is also in constant flux. This flux is controlled and coordinated by continuous crosstalk between the neoplastic cells and the environment, involving a wide variety of autocrine and paracrine signalling pathways including TGF $\beta$ , Shh, CXCLs, HGF/Met, FGFs, IGF-1 and EGF among others (Neesse, Michl et al. 2011). Additionally there are also direct interactions between structural ECM molecules and neoplastic cells through cell surface receptors such as integrins which signal via focal adhesion complexes and in turn via the actin cytoskeleton (Chung, Tan et al. 2012). This cross-talk results in the production of enzymes such as lysyl-oxidase and MMPs, alterations in the quantity and quality of structural ECM molecules such as collagen and tenascin C, alterations in the immune cell infiltrate and alterations in the levels of chemokines and cytokines. This constant cross-talk is vital in many areas of tumourigenesis, tumour progression, invasion and metastasis.

Increasingly therapies targeting stroma in PDAC are being explored in mouse models of PDAC and in human disease. Clinical trials with marimastat an MMP inhibitor showed no improvement compared to gemcitabine alone whereas recent work in mice has highlighted new potential targets with inhibition of hedgehog signalling and enzymatic depletion of hyaluronan separately enhancing delivery of chemotherapy agents to pancreatic tumours through suggested "stromal softening" and increased vascular delivery of chemotherapy agents (Bramhall, Rosemurgy et al. 2001; Moore, Goldstein et al. 2007; Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012; Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009; Jacobetz, Chan et al. 2013). Unfortunately these studies although showing altered vasculature and increased gemcitabine delivery did not extensively characterise stromal changes in response to hedgehog signalling inhibition or hyaluronan depletion.

#### **1.7** Available methods for tumour microenvironment characterisation

With the increasing interest in stromal targeting in cancer therapy, particularly in PDAC, there have been increasing numbers of publications evaluating the effects

of different stromal targeting therapies (Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009; Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012; Jacobetz, Chan et al. 2013; Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011). Unfortunately the methods used in these publications vary greatly in their fastidiousness. Some groups have used FACS analysis to quantify cellular constituents of tumours, others have used Western blot and qPCR analyses to determine levels of non-cellular stromal constituents and others have used histological assessment to determine either cellular or non-cellular constituents. FACS analysis alone provides robust counts of cellular constituents of tissues however it provides no information regarding tissue organisation and architecture and there are also a multitude of issues surrounding tissue selection and preparation for analysis. Similar difficulties arise with Western-blot or qPCR analysis for non-cellular constituents as without histological assessment there is no confirmation of the piece of tissue actually being analysed or its organisation and architecture. Broadly speaking the histological methods used to date involve subjectively selecting areas with highest staining and then selecting small numbers of representative fields on which to score the stromal constituent of interest. From these selected fields an average is taken which is assumed to represent the tumour as a whole.

#### 1.8 Important stromal targets established within our lab

Work by Jen Morton and Bryan Miller using *in vitro* screening techniques in combination with microarray data from murine pancreatic cancer models (both metastatic and non-metastatic) and human pancreatic cancer data has previously highlighted potential stromal targets within PDAC including, tenascin C, lysyl-oxidase and CXCR2 signalling. As such we have applied a number of stromal targeting therapies to the KPC model of PDAC and have shown significant effects on survival in the KPC model.

#### 1.9 Tenascin C

The tenascin family has four members: tenascin C, tenascin R, tenascin X and tenascin W. These members all share a characteristic modular structure with an oligomerization domain followed by EGF-like repeats, fibronectin (FN) type III repeats and a fibrinogen globe (Chiquet-Ehrismann 2004). In the case of tenascin

C and R alternative splicing can lead to the generation of multiple isoforms that contain additional FN type III repeats.

Tenascin C is produced in response to a wide variety of cellular signals such as in states of hypoxia under the control of the transcription factor HIF-1 $\alpha$  or in response to mechanical strain provided by the stiff stroma present within tumours (Jones and Jones 2000).

Tenascin C has a number of receptors and mechanisms through which it signals to cells. These include signalling via integrins, EGFR, c-MET, TLR4, annexin II and through mechanotransduction by direct cytoskeletal rearrangements. It has also been shown to modulate TGF $\beta$ , Notch and WNT signalling pathways. One mechanism by which tenascin C modulates the WNT signalling pathway is via downregulation of Dkk1 a known inhibitor of the WNT pathway (Ramos, Chen et al. 1997; Sriramarao, Mendler et al. 1993; Yokosaki, Palmer et al. 1994; Varnum-Finney, Venstrom et al. 1995; Yokosaki, Monis et al. 1996; Iyer, Tran et al. 2008; Midwood, Sacre et al. 2009; Brosig, Ferralli et al. 2010; Thomasset, Lochter et al. 1998; Taraseviciute, Vincent et al. 2010; De Wever, Nguyen et al. 2004).

Tenascin C has been shown to be expressed in the haematopoietic stem cell environment and the hair follicle bulb (Klein, Beck et al. 1993; Kloepper, Tiede et al. 2008) and is therefore considered to be an important component within the stem cell niche. Tenascin C has also been shown to be overexpressed in tumour associated stroma in a variety of cancers including pancreatic cancer (Juuti, Nordling et al. 2004; Bourdon, Wikstrand et al. 1983; Chiquet-Ehrismann, Mackie et al. 1986). Tenascin C is involved in many of the steps of tumorigenesis from early tumour development through to metastatic spread and colonisation.

Work by Bryan Miller in our lab has shown the importance of tenascin C to pancreatic cancer cell lines growing *in vitro*. By using sh-RNA to block production of tenascin C by the tumour cells he has shown a significant decrease in cell viability. Tenascin C production by tumour cells has also been shown to be vital to breast cancer cells upon initial metastatic colonisation of the lungs. It has been shown that inhibiting tenascin C production by metastatic tumour cells at any time point up to 21 days post tail vein inoculation results in apoptosis of tumour cells and regression of any establishing micrometastases. After 21 days, inhibition of

tenascin C production by tumour cells had no effect on metastasis growth. It has been suggested that this is because the production of tenascin C which is initially undertaken by the colonising tumour cells themselves switches over to the mesenchymal cells in response to stimulation by the now established metastatic cells (Oskarsson, Acharyya et al. 2011). In contrast to these findings which highlight the importance of epithelial tenascin C production, it is generally considered that the source of tenascin C in epithelial tumours is the mesenchymal cells themselves. Indeed, it has been shown that fibroblasts produce tenascin C when co-cultured with neoplastic epithelial cells (Chiquet-Ehrismann, Kalla et al. 1989).

A major function of tenascin C is modulation of the adhesion status of cells. In turn, the state of cell adhesion is thought to modulate pathways controlling genomic stability. It is therefore possible that tenascin C through modulation of the adhesion status of cells may indirectly have an effect on genomic stability (Tlsty 1998; Chiquet-Ehrismann and Tucker 2011). Indeed it has been shown that molecules with known functions in controlling genome stability such as H2AX and Brad1 are down-regulated in the presence of tenascin C in glioblastoma cells (Ruiz, Huang et al. 2004) and that tenascin C rich environments favour the development of tumours (Thomasset, Lochter et al. 1998).

In addition to promoting genomic instability, the altered state of adhesion mediated by tenascin C also aids tumour cell migration. Tenascin C was initially shown to be an anti-adhesive molecule inhibiting *in vitro* tumour cell adherence to fibronectin. In fact it is increasingly apparent that tenascin C is able to specifically modulate adhesion status which results in an intermediate adhesion state in tumour cells thus allowing migration as opposed to firm attachment or total loss of adhesion. (Chiquet-Ehrismann, Kalla et al. 1988; Wenk, Midwoos et al. 2000; Murphy-Ullrich 2001).

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process utilised by epithelial cells developmentally to aid tissue formation and remodelling. EMT is characterised by loss of cell adhesion and increased cell mobility with additional loss of epithelial markers such as E-cadherin. Tenascin C appears to have a significant role in the induction of EMT as it has been consistently linked with cancer cells undergoing EMT and is vital in injury induced EMT in the lens epithelium of the eye (Dandachi, Hauser-Kronberger et al 2001; Tanaka, Sumioka et al. 2010). EMT is normally under tight control as it is vital to tissue remodelling and development however it is also a process utilised by tumour cells allowing migration and invasive behaviours.

Tenascin C has also been associated with increased tumour cell proliferation. It has been shown that melanoma sphere growth is severely diminished in the absence of tenascin C. High levels have also been demonstrated at the invasive edges of breast cancer where there is also a significantly higher proliferation rate (Fukunaga-Kalabis, Martinez et al. 2010; Jahkola, Toivonen et al. 1998).

In addition to its functions triggering growth and migration, tenascin C is also proangiogenic and able to stimulate endothelial cells to acquire a sprouting phenotype and become migratory (Canfield, Schor et al 1995; Chung, Murphy-Ullrich et al. 1996). In any tissue, cells must reside within 100µm of a capillary blood vessel and this limitation inhibits tumour growth unless the tumour can induce the formation of new blood vessels (Bouck, Stellmach et al. 1996). Tenascin C has been shown to play an important role in stimulating angiogenesis in a number of models. Importantly, *in vivo*, it has been shown that xenograft tumours grown in tenascin C deficient mice had significantly reduced vasculature compared to xenografts grown in control animals. This reduced vasculature was due to the altered regulation of VEGF expression by tenascin C (Tanaka, Hiraiwa et al. 2004)

Finally tenascin C has also been linked to chemotherapy resistance in a number of cancers including; melanoma, breast cancer and pancreatic cancer. Tenascin C has been shown to induce gemcitabine resistance in pancreatic cancer through annexin II signalling and activation of PI3K/Akt and ultimately activation of NF-kB (Gong, Lv et al. 2010; Fukunaga-Kalabis, Martinez et al. 2010; Wang, Liu et al. 2010; Helleman, Jansen et al. 2008).

Due to the wide range of roles that tenascin C plays in the microenvironment of tumours and the importance of tenascin C to tumour cells in culture and at metastatic sites we aim to further characterise tenascin C expression patterns in our models of pancreatic cancer and the changes in expression elicited by different microenvironment targeting strategies. We aim to determine the importance of tenascin C in human disease and determine the similarities in tenascin C expression between human disease and the KPC model.

#### 1.10 Lysyl-oxidase

ECM remodelling is a constant but highly regulated process in normal tissue development (Baker, Cox et al. 2011). Malignant cell growth is ordinarily suppressed by the normal microenvironment through the provision of appropriate forces that govern normal tissue organisation, cell growth, adhesion and migration. The absence of these normal forces in tumour ECM supports malignant cell proliferation, motility and adhesion (Weaver, Petersen et al. 1997; Paszek, Zahir et al. 2005). Enzymes that control ECM remodelling, which include members of the LOX family, are frequently either upregulated or downregulated in both tumour and stromal cells in various types of cancer (Payne, Hendrix et al. 2007; Zitka, Kukacka et al. 2010). Lysyl-oxidase (LOX) is a member of a multigene family with five members; LOX, LOXL1, LOXL2, LOXL3 and LOXL4. LOX is a secreted copper-dependent amine oxidase which functions to catalyse the cross-linking of collagens and elastins in the ECM resulting in increased tissue stiffness and tensile strength (Kagan and Trackman 1991). It is secreted as a proenzyme and subsequently activated by BMP-1. LOX family members have paradoxical roles as both tumour suppressors and metastasis promoters although many of the tumour suppressive roles of LOX have been attributed to the LOX-pro-peptide rather than LOX itself (Kagan and Li 2003). LOX has been shown to be elevated in invasive and metastatic breast cancer, has been validated as a prognostic marker in head and neck cancer and through inhibition with beta-aminoproprionitrile it has been shown to be vital to the invasion of melanoma cell lines in vitro (Kirschmann, Seftor et al. 2002; Erler, Bennewith et al. 2006; Le, Harris et al. 2009). LOX has been found to be highly expressed in stromal cells surrounding mammary ductal carcinoma in situ and increased tissue stiffness has been shown to promote progression to malignancy in *in vivo* models of breast cancer (Decitre, Gleyzal et al. 1998). It has also been suggested that LOX dependent collagen cross-linking is required for the provision of a microenvironment capable of supporting metastatic cell colonisation at distant sites (Erler, Bennewith et al. 2006; Erler, Bennewith et al. 2009). The progression to malignancy driven by LOX induced tissue stiffness is mediated primarily by altered focal adhesions, growth factor receptor signalling and altered cytoskeletal-dependent cell contractility (Butcher, Alliston et al. 2009; Discher, Janmey et al. 2005; Levental, Yu et al. 2009; Yeung, Georges et al. 2005). LOX also promotes the secretion of VEGF both in vitro and in vivo and

inhibition in an *in vivo* breast cancer model resulted in decreased intra-tumoral blood vessel numbers (Baker, Bird et al. 2013). In breast cancer and head and neck cancer upregulation of LOX closely correlates with hypoxia which is itself well known for its ability to enhance both metastasis and resistance to both chemotherapy and radiotherapy (Erler, Bennewith et al. 2006). LOX acts in conjunction with a wider repertoire of ECM molecules and has been shown to interact with fibronectin which in turn increases the catalytic activity of LOX. Finally, secreted LOX has been shown to recruit inflammatory cells to distant sites thereby helping to establish suitable niches for metastatic cells (Erler, Bennewith et al. 2009). Work in our lab has shown that lysyl-oxidase inhibition in the KPC model of PDAC leads to a significant increase in survival. As such we aim to characterise the stromal changes elicited by this treatment both alone and in conjunction with gemcitabine therapy.

#### 1.11 CXCR2 signalling

The link between inflammation and tumorigenesis, tumour maintenance and tumour progression is well established. Patients with a history of chronic pancreatitis have a seven fold increased risk of developing PDAC (Duell, Casella et al. 2006) and patients with ulcerative colitis have a twenty fold increased risk of colorectal cancer which is reduced 50% by NSAID use (Xie and Itzkowitz 2008).

CXCR2 ligands are not produced in normal pancreatic tissue but have been shown to be highly expressed in cases of pancreatitis. Additionally CXCR2 expression has been noted in up to 65% of surgically resected human pancreatic tumours and expression is associated with poor survival (Kuwada, Sasaki et al. 2003; Li, King et al. 2011; Wente, Keane et al. 2006; Baggiolini, Dewald et al. 1994; Takamori, Oades et al. 2000).

CXCR2 is a G-protein-coupled cell surface receptor which binds to a number of low molecular weight chemotactic chemokines. Chemokines play important roles in the development of tumours and metastases by modifying the tumour immune response through co-ordinating leukocyte infiltration, angiogenesis and acting as growth factors (Murphy 2001; Raman, Baugher et al. 2007; Singh, Sadanandam et al. 2007). CXCR2 is commonly found on neutrophils although it is also expressed on monocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages, endothelial cells, bone marrow derived endothelial progenitor cells, myeloid derived suppressor cells, mast cells, fibroblasts and can also be induced in tumour cells by activated oncogenes (Heidemann, Ogawa et al. 2003; Strieter, Burdick et al. 2006; Li, Cheng et al. 2011; Soehnlein, Drechsler et al. 2013; Hallgren and Gurish 2011; Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011; Sharma, Nawandar et al. 2013; Feijoo, Alfaro et al. 2005; Marotte, Ruth et al. 2010).

CXCR2 predominantly interacts with ELR+ (glutamic acid-leucine-arginine) chemokines, including CXCL1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8. These chemokines are all proangiogenic and stimulate neutrophil chemotaxis (Li, Cheng et al. 2011; Rainczuk, Rao et al 2012; Ahuja and Murphy 1996).

Multiple studies to date have shown that CXCR2 participates in chronic inflammation, sepsis, lung pathology, atherosclerosis, neuroinflammation and has critical roles in angiogenesis, tumourigenesis and metastasis of colorectal cancer, melanoma, lung cancer, prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer and head and neck cancers (Stadtmann and Zarbock 2012; Veenstra and Ransohoff 2012; Gabellini, Trisciuoglio et al. 2009; Baier, Wolff-Vorbeck et al. 2005; Singh, Singh et al. 2010; Ohri, Shikotra et al. 2010; Reiland, Furcht et al. 1999; Liu, Yang et al. 2011; Mestas, Burdick et al. 2005; Wang, Hendricks et al. 2006; Matsuo, Ochi et al. 2009; Yang, Rosen et al. 2010; Han, Jiang et al. 2012; Li, Cheng et al. 2011; Li, King et al. 2011; Wente, Keane et al. 2006).

The roles of inflammatory cells within the tumour microenvironment are varied with cells capable of being either tumorigenic or tumour suppressive. Macrophages and neutrophils for example in their pro-tumourigenic M2 or N2 phenotype may promote tumour angiogenesis, matrix breakdown and tumour cell mobility as well as producing oxidative bursts with the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that have many roles in tumourigenesis and maintenance but importantly are also mutagenic (DeNicola, Karreth et al. 2011; Sica and Mantovani 2012; Mentzel, Brown et al. 2001; Benelli, Morini et al. 2002; Van Coillie, Van Aelst et al. 2001; Nozawa, Chiu et al. 2006).

As well as through the indirect actions of inflammatory cells, CXCR2 has also been shown to directly promote angiogenesis with CXCR2 signalling vital to both endothelial cell and endothelial progenitor cell mobilisation and chemotaxis (Li, Cheng et al. 2011).

Due to a central role in the co-ordination of the PDAC microenvironment the CXCR2 signalling pathway provides a clear target requiring evaluation for the treatment of PDAC. Work in our lab has shown a significant increase in survival in KPC mice treated with CXCR2 inhibitors. We therefore aim to determine the significant effects this inhibition is having on the tumour microenvironment.

#### 1.12 Project aims

Given the importance of the tumour microenvironment and the increasing use of stromal targeting therapies we aim to establish rigorous methods for the quantification of stromal constituents. Given the importance of tenascin C we also aim to investigate the role of tenascin C in PDAC. Finally we will utilise these methods and staining procedures to evaluate the stroma of the models of PDAC used in our lab and the changes elicited by targeted stromal therapies.

# Chapter 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 In vivo experiments

All experiments were performed in accordance with UK Home Office guidelines and the EU directive 2010 with local ethical approval. Mice were maintained under non-barrier conditions and given a standard diet [CRM (E) expanded diet from Special Diets Services; Cat n<sup>o</sup> 801730] and water *ad libitum*.

Mice were examined three times per week for the development of pancreatic tumours. These signs include; hunched back, central abdominal distension, weight loss and/or palpable tumour. Once an endpoint was reached mice were euthanized and necropsied and tissues collected. Some mice developed skin papillomas and in these cases, the papilloma was measured three times weekly and once it reached 1.5cm in diameter the mouse was sacrificed. These rules were all clearly defined in the project licence as approved by the Home Office.

#### 2.2 Mouse genotyping

Mice were genotyped externally using the service provided by Transnetyx (<u>http://www.transnetyx.com/</u>). The company uses a proprietary method based on real time PCR and DNA hybridisation to determine which alleles are present in the mice.

#### 2.3 Drug treatments

Mice were selected according to genotype and Pdx1-Cre, Kras<sup>G12D/+</sup>; Trp53<sup>R172h/+</sup> mice were randomised to treatment or control groups. Mice were aged to 70 days at which time they were commenced on the randomised treatment. Gemcitabine (LC labs) made up in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was given at 100mg/Kg twice weekly via intraperitoneal injection (IP). Scrambled 14 amino acid sequence, 'scrambled pepducin' (Genscript) made up in saline was given 200µl subcutaneously (SC), ½i-pal peptide (Genscript), a CXCR2 inhibiting peptide, 'pepducin' was given 200µl subcutaneously daily. ½i-pal peptide is a cell-penetrating lipopeptide directed against the third intracellular loop of the CXCR2 G-protein coupled receptor and results in selective inhibition (Kaneider, Agarwal et al. 2005). Lox blocking antibody (Lox-Ab) and isotype control (kind donation by

Janine Erler) made up in saline were given 100  $\mu$ I IP daily. Drug doses utilised were consistent with those previously published (Jamieson, Clarke et al. 2012; Erler, Bennewith et al. 2006; Morton, Timpson et al. 2010).

#### 2.4 Tissue sampling

Pancreas, lungs, liver, spleen and other tissues where appropriate were collected and fixed as necessary. Subsequent to fixation all samples were embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 5-10 $\mu$ m and stained with haematoxylin and eosin prior to microscopic analysis.

## 2.5 Fixation protocols

#### 2.5.1 Long Fixation

The tissues were incubated in 4% formalin [Leica; Cat nº 3800600E] for 24 hours before processing and paraffin embedding.

#### 2.5.2 Methacarn Fixation

A solution of methanol [Sigma; Cat nº 32213], chloroform [Fisher Scientific; Cat nº C4960/PB17] and acetic acid [Sigma; Cat nº 695092] was made fresh at a ratio of 4:2:1 respectively and used to fix tumour tissue samples for no more than 24 hours. Tissues were then placed in formalin overnight before being processed and paraffin embedded.

Methacarn fixation was undertaken for tumours requiring MPO staining.

## 2.6 Histology

Mouse tissues were embedded and cut by the Beatson Institute histology services. Routine histochemistry and immunohistochemistry (IHC) was performed by the Beatson Institute histology services except IHC for CD31, GFAP (mouse and human) and Tenascin C (mouse and human). Routine IHC was performed for CD3 (Abcam, ab16669 rabbit monoclonal), alphaSMA (Abcam, ab15734 rabbit polyclonal), F4/80 (Abcam, ab16911 rat monoclonal), MPO (Abcam, ab9535 rabbit polyclonal), cleaved caspase 3 (Abcam, ab4052 rabbit polyclonal).

#### 2.7 Immunohistochemistry on paraffin sections

Slides were de-waxed for a minimum of 7 minutes in xylene and rehydrated for 2 minutes each in decreasing concentrations of ethanol (100% - 95% - 70%) before finally being washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O. After immunohistochemistry, counterstaining was performed. Following which slides were dehydrated by immersion in increasing concentrations of ethanol (70%-95%-100%) before a final immersion in xylene for 5 minutes. After dehydration slides were then mounted with a coverslip.

#### 2.7.1 CD31

Sections were de-waxed as described previously. Antigen retrieval was performed by placing slides in pre-heated Citrate buffer (Thermo scientific) in a pressure cooker for 20 minutes. Following heating, pressure was released and slides were allowed to cool in the solution for 60 minutes at room temperature (RT). Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation in 3% hydrogen peroxide (Fluka) in de-ionized water. Slides were washed in Tris-Buffered Saline and Tween 20 (TBST). Non-specific binding was then blocked by incubation with 5% normal goat serum (NGS) for 30 minutes at RT. Primary anti-CD31 antibody (Abcam, ab28364 rabbit polyclonal) was applied overnight at 4°C at a 1/100 dilution in 5% NGS. After washing in TBST, secondary antibody (Vector ABC Kit) was applied for 30 minutes at a dilution of 1/200 in 5% NGS. After washing, signal amplification was performed using the ABC Complex (Vector ABC Kit), applied for 30 minutes. After washing, positivity was then visualised with DAB, slides were washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O and counterstained and mounted as described previously.

#### 2.7.2 Tenascin C (anti-human)

Sections were de-waxed as described above and antigen retrieval was performed using Proteinase K antigen retrieval for 7mins. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked as described above and non-specific binding was blocked with 5% NGS for 30 minutes at RT. Primary anti-Tenascin C antibody (Abcam antiTNC clone BC-24 ab6393) was applied and slides incubated overnight at 4°C at a dilution of 1/2000 in 5% NGS. After washing in TBST, secondary antibody (Vector ABC Kit) was applied for 30 minutes at a dilution of 1/200 in 5% NGS. After washing, signal amplification was performed using the ABC Complex (Vector ABC Kit), applied for 30 minutes. After washing, positivity was then visualised with DAB, slides were washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O and counterstained and mounted as described previously.

#### 2.7.3 Tenascin C (anti-mouse)

Sections were de-waxed as described above and antigen retrieval was performed boiling slides in 1L of 1mM EDTA pH 8 for 20 minutes . Slides were allowed to cool for 20 minutes before endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked as described above. Slides had non-specific binding blocked with 5% NGS for 30 minutes at RT before primary anti-Tenascin C antibody (Sigma, anti-TNC T3413 rabbit polyclonal) was applied overnight at 4°C at a dilution of 1/2000 in 5% NGS. Slides were washed in TBST and secondary antibody (Vector ABC Kit) was applied for 30 minutes at a dilution of 1/200 in 5% NGS. After washing, signal amplification, DAB positivity visualisation and mounting of the slides were performed as described previously.

#### 2.7.4 Glial acidic fibrillary protein (GFAP)

Sections were de-waxed as described above and antigen retrieval was performed by placing slides in pre-heated Citrate buffer in a pressure cooker for 20 minutes. Following heating, pressure was released and slides were allowed to cool in the solution for 60 minutes at room temperature (RT). Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked as described above and then washed in Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS). Non-specific binding was blocked with incubation in MOM mouse Ig blocking reagent for 1hour. Next slides were incubated in MOM diluent for 5 minutes before incubation in anti-GFAP (mouse monoclonal GA5 cell signalling) 1:50 in MOM diluent for 30 minutes at RT. Slides were washed in TBS before incubation in MOM biotinylated anti-mouse IgG reagent (Vector labs) for 10 minutes at RT. After washing; signal amplification, DAB positivity visualisation and mounting of the slides were performed as described previously.

#### 2.8 Primary cell culture

#### 2.8.1 Medium for cell culture

DMEM [Gibco; Cat nº 21969] with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum [PAA; Cat nº A15-101], 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin [Gibco; Cat nº 15070], and 2mM L-Glutamine [Gibco; Cat nº 25030].

#### 2.8.2 PDAC, primary cell line establishment and culture

Pancreatic tumour tissue was collected in PBS at necropsy. The tissue was then homogenised with a scalpel blade and placed in 5mL of medium and shaken for 30 seconds. The supernatant containing PDAC cells was collected, placed in a 75cm<sup>2</sup> flask [NUNC; Cat n<sup>o</sup> 153732] and a further 10mL of DMEM was added. The cells were cultured at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere until reaching 90% confluence at which time they were split using trypsin dissociation .

#### 2.9 Subcutaneous tumour growth in mice

Primary cell lines derived from C57Bl/6 PDAC tumours were suspended in PBS and injected subcutaneously into the flank of control C57Bl/6 or Tenascin C-/mice on a C57Bl/6 background. 1,000,000 cells were injected per mouse. Mice were monitored three times a week and tumours were measured from 6mm size. Mice were culled when tumours ulcerated or exceeded 15mm in size. The tumour was removed along with the overlying skin and underlying abdominal muscle and fixed in 10 % neutral buffered formalin pinned on wax discs. Organs (pancreas, liver, spleen and lungs) were also collected and evaluated for evidence of metastasis.

#### 2.10 Orthotopic models of pancreatic cancer

Primary cell lines derived from C57BI/6 PDAC tumours were suspended in matrigel (BD biosciences) and injected orthotopically into the tail of the pancreas of C57BI/6 mice and Tenascin C-/- mice by Dr J Morton. 100 cells were injected per mouse.

Mice were examined three times per week for the development of pancreatic tumours. These signs include; hunched back, central abdominal distension, weight

loss and/or palpable tumour. Once an endpoint was reached mice were euthanized and necropsied and tissues collected.

#### 2.11 Scoring:

All scoring was performed blinded, counting 30 non-consecutive x20 magnification field of view (FOV) or 60 x40 magnification FOV always avoiding areas of necrosis except where necrosis itself was being scored. For cell counts numbers of positive staining cells per FOV were counted, for other immunostaining quantification either pixel counting or semiquantitative methods were used as described below.

#### 2.11.1 Necrosis scoring:

Whole representative slides of tumours were scored at X20 magnification and average percentage necrosis was determined for each tumour. Necrosis was defined by set histological characteristics on haemotoxylin and eosin staining.

These included; nuclear changes (pyknosis, karyorrhexis, karyolysis, and nuclear absence), cytoplasmic changes (early increased eosinophilia advancing to pale pink ghost like appearance), cell rupture (with release of dark basophilic nuclear remnants and eosinophilic protein). Necrotic areas may also contain RBCs in areas of haemorrhagic necrosis.

#### 2.11.2 Immunohistochemistry pixel quantification:

30 x20 magnification images were taken at random from a representative slide from each tumour. The microscope (Olympus BX51) was optimised before taking complete sets of images therefore all images were taken with identical light levels and condenser setup. A manual exposure of 720µs and ISO 1600 were set as fixed parameters and all images were saved as TIFF files to standardise image quality. Finally all images were white balanced.

Once acquired immunostaining was quantified using Adobe Photoshop (version 5; Adobe Systems, San Jose, CA) using a method that has been previously described (Lehr, van der Loos et al. 1999). Briefly, in photoshop with the picture open, click window option in the task bar and open the histogram window. Once this window is open click on the expand icon in the top right corner of the histogram window and select expanded view this will then display the total number of pixels in the image and once a selection is made will show the number of selected pixels. Next click on the select option on the top bar of the photoshop window and click on colour range. Use the colour dropper within the colour range window to select the colour of interest and then alter the tolerance "fuzziness" setting to achieve a selection setting where the highlighted stained tissue is appropriate. This adjustment is made possible as the selected area is automatically highlighted on the image and therefore allows close control of the process. Once optimised this setting may then be saved as an .AXT file extension and reused for every image to be scored in a group. For each image selection the total number of stained pixels can then be recorded and the total staining represented as a percentage of the entire image in  $\mu m^2$  or cm<sup>2</sup>.

#### 2.12 Statistics:

#### 2.12.1 Scoring experiments:

Three to eight mice per group were used in order to comply with guidelines recommended by "the three Rs". These guidelines summarised as Refine, Reduce and Replace promote the ethical use of animals in research. Due to low numbers data cannot be assumed to be normally distributed and therefore non-parametric statistical tests are most appropriate. Here a Mann-Whitney test which allows the comparison of small groups of mice was used to determine the presence of statistically significant differences between groups.

#### 2.12.2 Tissue microarray analysis

A human pancreatico-biliary tissue microarray was created within the West of Scotland Pancreatic Unit, University Department of Surgery, Glasgow Royal Infirmary. All patients gave written, informed consent for the collection of tissue samples, and the local Research Ethics Committee approved collection. All cases had undergone a standardized pancreaticoduodenectomy. A total of 1500 cores from a total of 224 cases with pancreatico-biliary cancer (including 119 pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas) with a full spectrum of clinical and pathological features were arrayed in slides. At least 6 tissue cores (0.6mm diatmeter) from tumour and 2 from adjacent normal tissue were sampled. Complete clinical follow up data was available for all cases within the TMA.
### 2.12.3 TMA histoscoring

Tenascin C levels were scored based on staining intensity and area of positive staining stroma using a weighted histoscore (Morton, Timpson et al. 2010). The histoscore was calculated based on the sum of (1x% weak staining)+(2x% moderate staining)+(3x% strong staining), therefore providing a semi-quantitative classification of tenascin C levels in TMA cores. Tenascin C expression was defined as either high or low either being above or below the median histoscore value.

### 2.12.4 TMA survival analysis

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis was used to analyse the overall survival from the time of surgery and a log-rank test was performed to compare length of survival between the resulting two curves.

### 2.12.5 TMA correlation

Correlation between parameters within the TMA data set was determined using Spearman's Rank-Order Correlation Coefficient.

### 2.13 RNA microarray analysis

Microarray analysis was performed on request by Nigel Jamieson at the Cancer Research Microarray Facility, Paterson Institute for Cancer Research, University of Manchester. 40ng of RNA was amplified using WT-Ovation Pico RNA amplification system (NuGEN, San Carlos, CA) with subsequent labelling and hybridisation to HG\_U133 Plus 2.0 arrays (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA) using the FL-Ovation cDNA Biotin Module v2. Full datasets have been made public in MIAME VICE <a href="http://bioinformatics.picr.man.ac.uk/vice/Welcome.vice">http://bioinformatics.picr.man.ac.uk/vice/Welcome.vice</a>. Accession code is GE\_PA(4).

#### Chapter 3

#### Results

## 3.1 Establishing a method for quantification of stromal constituents in the KPC model

Given the interest in targeting stroma it was first important to carefully characterise and develop reliable methods to quantify the stromal constituents within our models of PDAC. Previous work characterising the stromal constituents of various models including the KPC model of PDAC is limited and methods of quantification vary in their fastidiousness. Previous work characterising stromal characteristics such as intratumoural microvessel density have subjectively identified three to five representative fields of view and counted the stromal constituent of interest in these fields (ljichi, Chytil et al. 2011; Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009). The count from these three to five fields is then used to represent the entire tumour. Due to the inherent subjectivity of selecting representative fields of view our first aim was to establish methods that provided more objective quantification of stromal constituents for the tumours as a whole.

To establish a reliable method I began by counting all non-consecutive fields of view in a single tumour at either X20 or X40 magnification depending on the ability to reliably identify stromal constituents at each magnification. During these counting procedures I calculated a running mean and the standard error and graphically it was possible to see when a suitable estimate of the mean had been reached for each constituent such that a truly representative value had been determined. I found that, for any stromal constituent, counting 30 fields of view was sufficient to generate a representative count (See Fig. 2). The procedure of counting 30 fields of view at x20 magnification generally sampled the majority of any given tumour and even in larger tumours 30 fields of view never accounted for less than half of a tumour. When counting at x40 magnification 30 fields of view was still adequate at generating a stable and reliable mean. However given the smaller field size I decided to count 60 fields of view such that the area of tumour sampled still accounted for over half of the tumour.

## Figure 2: Counting 30 non-consecutive fields of view reliably quantifies any stromal constituent within a tumour.

Representative graphs for single tumours showing consecutive FOV counts (blue line), running mean (red line) and running mean +/- standard error (green and purple lines), a) CD31, b) F4/80, c) MPO quantification and d) Sirius red quantification. CD31, F4/80 and Sirius red quantification were performed at x20 magnification and MPO at x40 magnification.



b)









### 3.2 Characterising the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs

I first performed initial stromal characterisation of normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue and in doing so validated staining techniques and highlighted significant constituents of the KPC tumour stroma.

## **3.2.1 Establishing the normal presence of immune cells within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC stroma**

Utilising characteristic cellular and nuclear morphology and MPO immunopositivity I have shown that, as expected, neutrophils are not a normal stromal constituent of the pancreas whereas they are present in the stroma of KPC tumours. I have also shown that in KPC PDACs as opposed to normal pancreata there are large numbers of F4/80 positive macrophages but only small numbers of CD3 positive T cells (see Fig. 3).

### Figure 3: Establishing the normal presence of neutrophils (MPO), macrophages (F4/80) and T cells (CD3) within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC stroma

Representative images of MPO, F4/80 and CD3 immunostaining in normal murine pancreata and in KPC PDAC tissue. Note the lack of immune cell infiltrate in normal pancreata (n=5-8 for each stain).



## **3.2.2 Determining the presence of apoptosis and necrosis in normal pancreata and KPC PDACs**

Utillising the characteristic appearance of necrotic tissue and positivity of cells for cleaved caspase 3 it is apparent that apoptosis and necrosis are absent in the normal pancreas compared with KPC PDACs (see Fig. 4).

## Figure 4: Determining the presence of apoptosis and necrosis in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue

Representative images of cleaved-caspase 3 immunostaining (arrows) and H&E characteristics of necrosis (dashed black line) in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue. Note the lack of apoptosis and necrosis in normal pancreata (n=5).



## 3.2.3 Characterisation of myofibroblasts/stellate cells in KPC models of PDAC

Utilising alphaSMA immunohistochemistry I have confirmed that in the normal pancreas there are small numbers of alphaSMA positive cells. These cells are predominantly perivascular smooth muscle cells as would be expected. I have also shown that there are large numbers of alphaSMA positive activated myofibroblasts in KPC PDACs (see Fig. 5). As previously discussed pancreatic stellate cells are considered to be the primary source of alphaSMA positive cells in both human PDAC and mouse models of PDAC. Unfortunately alphaSMA is not a specific marker for activated stellate cells as other cell types will also stain for this marker. These include; pericytes, smooth muscle cells and any other activated myofibroblast not originating from a pancreatic stellate cell. Due to the lack of specificity of alphaSMA as a marker of stellate cell origin I looked to use GFAP expression which is generally considered to be a more specific marker of pancreatic stellate cells. Using cell morphology, tissue location and GFAP staining of normal murine pancreata and both human and KPC PDAC tumour tissue I have shown that GFAP specifically stains both Schwann cells and pancreatic stellate cells within the normal murine pancreas (as expected for cells of neural crest origin) (see Fig. 6). I have also shown that there are GFAP positive cells present in both KPC and human PDAC tissue (see Figs 7 and 8 respectively). Using GFAP and alphaSMA staining on serial sections of KPC PDAC tissue it is also clear that there are significantly more alphaSMA positive cells than GFAP positive cells (see Fig. 9).

## Figure 5: Characterisation of alphaSMA positive cells within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue

Shows representative images of alphaSMA staining within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue. Notice the immunopositivity of cells surrounding vessels within the normal pancreas consistent with perivascular smooth muscle cells (see arrows) (n=5).



### Figure 6: Stellate cells within normal murine pancreas

Shows a representative X20 magnification image of GFAP stained murine pancreatic tissue. The Inset image represents the highlighted red box showing a periacinar, GFAP positive pancreatic stellate cell (n=3). Inset shows magnified image of GFAP positive "stellate" cell in periacinar location.



**Figure 7: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in KPC mice.** Shows representative X40 magnification images of GFAP stained tumour tissue (n=5).



### Figure 8: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in human PDAC.

Shows representative X40 magnification images of GFAP stained human PDAC tissue (n=2). Arrow points to GFAP positive spindle shaped "stellate" cell.



### Figure 9: Stellate cells in pancreatic tumour tissue in KPC mice.

Shows representative X10 magnification images of GFAP and alphaSMA staining on consecutive tumour tissue sections (n=3).



## **3.2.4 Establishing the presence of blood vessels in the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs**

In the normal pancreas there are small to moderate numbers of well-formed blood vessels present between pancreatic acini, lobules and ducts. Within the stroma of KPC PDACs there are moderate numbers of poorly formed CD31 positive blood vessels (see Fig. 10).

### Figure 10: Microvessels within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue

Representative images of CD31 staining of endothelial cells of vessels within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue (see arrows) (n=5-8). Arrow points to CD31 positive interlobular vessel.



## **3.2.5 Establishing the presence of collagen within the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs**

Sirius red staining highlights, as expected, that there are moderate amounts of collagen present within the interlobular and periductal regions of the normal pancreas. It is also clear that there are large amounts of collagen present within the stroma of KPC PDACs surrounding the neoplastic epithelium (see Fig. 11).

### Figure 11: Stromal collagen in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue

Representative images of Sirius red staining (collagen and elastin) of normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue (n=5-8)



## **3.2.6 Establishing the presence of tenascin C within the stroma of normal pancreata and KPC PDACs**

Due to the wide range of roles that tenascin C plays in the microenvironment of tumours and the importance, as shown by our lab, of tenascin C to tumour cell viability *in vitro* I next characterised the presence of tenascin C in the normal pancreas and in KPC PDACs. Through establishing and optimising an immunohistochemistry protocol for staining tenascin C in formalin fixed, paraffin embedded tissue I have shown that there is significant production of tenascin C in the normal pancreas (see Fig. 12).

## Figure 12: Tenascin C presence within normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue

Representative images showing tenascin C immunostaining in normal pancreata and KPC PDAC tissue. Notice the increased expression in the stroma of the PDAC tissue (n=5-8).



### 3.3 Tenascin C in Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

In response to our earlier findings and the wide ranging roles tenascin C plays from tumourigenesis through to metastatic spread I next looked to further characterise tenascin C expression in the murine models of PDAC available in our lab and to determine the importance of tenascin C in human PDAC

# 3.3.1 Mutant p53 causes an increase in intra-tumoural tenascin C expression compared with loss of p53

It has previously been shown by Jen Morton that PDAC expressing mutant p53 as opposed to loss of p53 is capable of metastatic spread (Morton, Timpson et al. 2010). Most work regarding the effects of p53 loss versus p53 mutation in PDAC has focussed on the changes to the tumour cells themselves. Due to the lack of metastasis in KPfIC mice and the important role tenascin C plays in supporting metastasis in other epithelial cancers we looked to characterise the expression of tenascin C in both the KPC and the KPfIC models. We have shown that loss of p53 does not lead to production of tenascin C whereas the presence of a gain-of-function mutant p53 does (see Fig. 13).

Figure 13: Presence of gain-of-function mutant p53 as opposed to loss of p53 causes an increase in the production of tenascin-C in tumours in mice. Shows representative X4 magnification images of tenascin-C stained p53-/- (KPfIC) and p53<sup>R172H</sup> (KPC) tumours. There is markedly reduced tenascin-C expression in p53-/- tumours compared with p53<sup>R172H</sup> tumours (n=5-8).



# 3.3.2 Tenascin C is produced by the tumour stroma and not the tumour epithelium

Having shown high expression of tenascin C within the stroma of KPC PDAC tumours (see Figs. 12 and 13) I next looked to further characterise the production of tenascin C utilising other models of PDAC. As discussed previously, work in our lab by Bryan Miller has shown that tenascin C production by the tumour epithelium itself is vital to cell viability *in vitro*. This finding is interesting given the stromal staining pattern of tenascin C that I have demonstrated in KPC PDAC tumours (see Fig. 12) and the generally accepted view that in epithelial cancers it is stromal cells that are responsible for the production of tenascin C. Due to these contradictory findings I next used orthotopic and subcutaneous human PDAC cell line xenograft models in nude mice to confirm the source of tenascin C in PDAC. Tenascin C immunohistochemistry is species specific (see Fig. 14), therefore by utilising this species specific staining it is clear that tenascin C is not directly produced by the tumour epithelium but is produced by stromal cells (see Fig. 15). I further confirmed the finding that the stroma is responsible for the production of

tenascin C in epithelial cancers using human colorectal carcinoma HCT 116 tumour cell line subcutaneous xenografts (see Fig. 15).

## Figure 14: Tenascin-C antibodies provide species specific immunohistochemical staining of human and murine tissues.

Shows representative X10 magnification images of tenascin-C stained mouse and human primary PDAC tissue with anti-mouse and anti-human tenascin-C antibodies. Note that there is no interspecies cross-reactivity.



## Figure 15: Species specific Tenascin-C immunohistochemistry provides evidence for the stromal production of tenascin-C.

- a) Shows representative X10 magnification images of anti-human and anti-mouse antitenascin-C stained human PDAC cell xenograft nude mouse models. Staining is only seen using the anti-mouse anti-tenascin-C staining therefore confirming tenascin-C production by the microenvironment and not the tumour cells themselves.
- b) Shows representative X10 magnification images of anti-human and anti-mouse antitenascin-C staining in human colorectal carcinoma HCT 116 tumour cell line subcutaneous xenografts.





a)



# 3.3.3 Tenascin C is produced by the tumour epithelium in the absence of stromal production

Due to previous results in our lab and work by others showing that tenascin C production by the tumour epithelium is vital in establishment and survival of early breast cancer metastases (Oskarsson, Acharyya et al. 2011) I next looked to determine whether tenascin C could be produced by the tumour epithelium *in vivo*. I used subcutaneous allograft models of C57BI6 KPC cell lines in syngeneic wild type (WT) and tenascin C knockout C57BI6 mice to determine the importance of stromal tenascin C production. In this model allografted tumour cells are able to produce tenascin C but in the tenascin C knockout mice the stroma cannot. I have shown that in a WT recipient the stroma produces the tenascin C and the tumour epithelium does not stain, whereas in the tenascin C knockout recipient the stroma is unable to produce tenascin C and we see production of tenascin C by the tumour epithelium itself (see Fig. 16)

## Figure 16: Tenascin-C expression is predominantly stromal however it may also be expressed within the tumour epithelium.

Shows representative X10 magnification images of tenascin-C stained C57BL/6 KPC cell line subcutaneous allografts in WT and tenascin-C -/- mice. Note the stromal expression in the wild type recipients and the tumoural expression in the tenascin-C -/- recipient.



### 3.4 Tenascin C and its importance in human PDAC

Having shown the importance of tenascin C production in murine models of PDAC I next looked to confirm the production of tenascin C and determine its importance in human PDAC.

# 3.4.1 Tenascin C is produced by the stroma of human PDAC and high levels of expression correlate significantly with survival

Previous studies have found increased expression of tenascin C in acute and chronic pancreatitis, early PanIN lesions and PDAC in humans. Tenascin C expression has also been shown to correlate with differentiation of PDAC (Juuti, Nordling et al. 2004; Esposito, Penzel et al. 2006). Utilising a human PDAC tissue microarray I have shown that tenascin C is a significant stromal constituent and that expression significantly correlates with survival (Log-Rank p=0.043). Also patients expressing high levels of stromal tenascin C (n=59) had a median survival of 13.4 months whereas patients expressing low levels of tenascin C (n=59) had nearly a 50% increase in survival with a median survival of 22.6 months (see Fig. 17). Immunohistochemical staining of this TMA also confirms that tenascin C production in these tumours is exclusively stromal and highly variable (see Fig. 17).

## Figure 17: Tenascin-C expression is significantly associated with survival in human PDAC.

- a) Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. There was a significant difference in survival between the survival of patients with tenascin-C expression above or below the median as determined by TMA histoscore (Log-Rank p=<0.043, n=118).</li>
- b) Representative images of tenascin C immunohistochemistry in human PDAC TMA samples highlighting high and low stromal staining.



b)



# 3.4.2 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with hypoxia in human PDAC

Previous studies have found increased production of tenascin C in states of hypoxia (Jones and Jones 2000). In my analysis of the human PDAC TMA there is a strong positive correlation between the transcription factor Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (Hif1 $\alpha$ ) and tenascin C levels in human disease (p=0.018, see Fig. 18).

# 3.4.3 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with proliferation in human PDAC

Tenascin C has been shown to promote both glioblastoma and breast carcinoma cell proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Chiquet-Ehrismann, Mackie et al. 1986; Huang, Chiquet-Ehrismann et al. 2001; Fukunaga-Kalabis, Martinez et al. 2010). In my analysis of the human PDAC TMA I have shown a significant correlation between tenascin C expression and proliferation in human PDAC (p=0.045 see Fig. 18).

# 3.4.4 Tenascin C expression strongly correlates with integrin signalling in human PDAC

Tenascin C is known to signal through integrins a large family of cell surface receptors. Tenascin C has been shown to signal through  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha v\beta 3$ ,  $\alpha 7\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 8\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 9\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 5\beta 3$  and  $\alpha 5\beta 6$  integrins (Sriramarao, Mendler et al. 1993; Yokosaki, Palmer et al. 1994; Varnum-Finney, Venstrom et al. 1995; Yokosaki, Monis et al. 1996). Interestingly in my analysis there is a strong correlation between tenascin C expression and  $\alpha v\beta 6$  integrin (see Fig. 18).

# 3.4.5 Tenascin C expression is significantly associated with both tumour grade and vascular invasion in human PDAC

Tenascin C is considered to have important roles in both epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and tumour cell migration (Deryugina, Bourdon et al. 1996; Nishio, Kawaguchi et al. 2005; De Wever, Nguyen et al. 2004; Maschler, Grunert et al. 2004; Dandachi, Hauser-Kronberger et al. 2001; Tanaka, Sumioka et al. 2010). I have shown that high expression of tenascin C significantly correlates with tumour grade (p=0.049) and there is also a trend towards increased vascular invasion (p=0.052) (see Fig. 19).

### Figure 18: Tenascin C expression significantly correlates with proliferation, hypoxia and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta6$ in human PDAC TMA analysis.

There is a strong positive correlation with Ki67 a proliferation marker, Hif1alpha which is induced in states of hypoxia and integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  (n=118).

(n = 118)			
Correlates with:	Spearman's p coefficient	Sig. (2-tailed)	
Tenascin	1	1	
Ki67	0.185	0.045	
nuclear Smad4	- 0.187	0.043	
$\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin	0.338	0.000	
Hif1a	0.225	0.018	
nucleophosmin	0.233	0.011	

**Figure 19: Tenascin-C expression significantly correlates with tumour grade** There is a positive correlation between tumour grade and tenascin-C expression with higher grade tumours producing more tenascin-C. There is also a trend towards tumours with higher tenascin-C expression exhibiting vascular invasion (n=118). Vascular invasion 1= invasion, 0= no invasion.



# 3.4.6 Tenascin C expression is significantly associated with lysyl-oxidase expression in human PDAC

Finally we have shown in a human PDAC RNA microarray that there is a significant positive correlation between lysyl-oxidase expression and tenascin C expression (p<0.0001 see Fig. 20).

## Figure 20: Tenascin-C expression significantly correlates with lysyl-oxidase expression in human PDAC RNA microarray analysis.

There is a significant positive correlation between lox expression and tenascin-C expression in human PDAC (spearmans rho correlation 0.61, p=<0.0001).



# 3.5 Evaluating stromal changes elicited by stromal targeting treatments in the KPC model of PDAC

Having established reliable methods for quantifying cellular and non-cellular constituents of tumour stroma and establishing the presence and possible importance of tenascin C in PDAC we next looked to use these methods and staining protocols to evaluate stromal changes elicited in the KPC model by lysyl-oxidase inhibition and CXCR2 inhibition.

### 3.6 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in the KPC model

The role of lysyl-oxidase in tumour metastasis is well established, and it has been shown that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase reduces metastatic spread rather than reducing tumour initiation (Erler, Bennewith et al. 2006). In light of recent work showing that tumour stroma inhibits penetration of gemcitabine into PDAC (Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009), and given the role that lysyl-oxidase plays in cross-linking collagen, we next determined the effect of lysyl-oxidase inhibition alone and in combination with gemcitabine on both metastatic spread and on the primary tumour itself.

### 3.6.1 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition delays tumorigenesis and stops metastasis

Work by Jen Morten and Bryan Miller in our lab has shown that KPC mice treated with LOX-Ab show a significant increase in survival, furthermore mice treated with the combination of gemcitabine and LOX-Ab had a further increase in survival, with a median survival of 226 days (Log-Rank p<0.002) (see Fig. 21). Importantly in the groups of mice treated with LOX-Ab alone or LOX-Ab/gemcitabine combination there were reduced instances of metastasis (0/8 and 2/13 respectively, compared with 9/11 treated with gemcitabine alone).

## Figure 21: LOX inhibition significantly delays tumorigenesis and stops metastasis in KPC mice.

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. There was a significant difference in survival between the LoxAB treated and the LoxAB/Gemcitabine treated cohorts (Log-Rank p=<0.002). There was also reduced incidence of metastasis noted in the Lox-Ab and Lox-Ab/Gemcitabine treatment cohorts. (Results and figure courtesy of Jen Morton)



# 3.6.2 Characterising the effects of Lox-Ab and gemcitabine treatment on the KPC tumour epithelium and microenvironment

Having shown the significant effect of lysyl-oxidase inhibition on survival, alone and in combination with gemcitabine, it was next important to characterise the effects treatment was having on both the tumour epithelium and the tumour microenvironment

# 3.6.3 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition significantly reduces the tumoural expression of tenascin C in KPC mice

Considering the previously highlighted significant correlation between lysyloxidase and tenascin C expression in human PDAC we next looked to determine the effects of lysyl-oxidase inhibition on the expression of tenascin C in the KPC model of PDAC. Additionally tenascin C is produced in response to a wide variety of cellular signals such as hypoxia and in response to mechanical strain (Jones and Jones 2000) therefore we looked to quantify tumoural tenascin C expression in Lox-Ab treated mice. In the context of lysyl-oxidase inhibition elicited by Lox-Ab treatment there is markedly decreased tenascin C expression in tumours. We have also shown that gemcitabine treatment induces increased stromal tenascin C expression when compared with vehicle treated mice. It is also clear that Lox-Ab treatment is able to inhibit the increased stromal expression of tenascin C in response to gemcitabine (see Fig. 22). Interestingly in the treatment KPC tumours treated with the combination of gemcitabine and lysyl-oxidase inhibition we also begin to see increased expression by the tumour epithelium itself as opposed to the increased stromal expression noted in vehicle or gemcitabine alone treated KPC mice (see Fig. 23).

### Figure 22: Lysyl-oxidase inhibition significantly reduces the expression of tenascin-C in KPC tumours.

Representative x4 magnification images of tenascin-C staining of tumour tissues. Lox inhibition markedly decreases the expression of tenascin-C in Lox treated KPC tumours. Gemcitabine is also noted to markedly increase expression of tenascin-C, a change that is not noted when used in conjunction with Lox inhibition.



## Figure 23: Tenascin-C expression is predominantly stromal however it may also be expressed within the tumour epithelium.

Shows representative X20 magnification images of tenascin-C stained gemcitabine treated and lox/gemcitabine treated KPC tumours. Note the stromal staining pattern in the gemcitabine treated tumour compared to the mild cytoplasmic staining of tumour cells in the Lox/gemcitabine treated tumour.



# 3.6.4 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition significantly increases intra-tumoural microvessel density

Given the decrease in the stromal tenascin C expression caused by Lox-Ab treatment we looked to determine whether there was an effect on the tumour microvasculature. Amy Au in our lab has shown that there is a significant increase in intra-tumoural microvasculature in Lox-Ab and Lox-AB/gemcitabine combination treatment groups compared to vehicle treated and gemcitabine alone (data not shown).

### 3.6.5 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in conjunction with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis but has no significant effect on apoptosis

Work done in the lab by Jen Morten in KPC mice had previously shown that there was no significant change in tumour epithelium proliferation rate as assessed by Ki67 immunostaining and quantification. Given that there was no change in tumour proliferation I next characterised the changes in tumour cell survival by quantification of apoptosis and necrosis. Through quantification of intra-tumoural necrosis I have shown a significant increase in intra-tumoural necrosis in the Lox-Ab/gemcitabine combination treatment group compared with gemcitabine alone and vehicle treated mice (p=0.034 and 0.022 respectively, see Fig. 24). There is also a trend towards increased necrosis in the Lox-AB/gemcitabine combination treatment group compared to lysyl-oxidase inhibition alone (p=0.101 see Fig. 24).

Through quantification of apoptosis (positive immunostaining for cleaved caspase-3) I have shown that there is no significant alteration in apoptosis in the tumour epithelium (see Fig. 25). These findings are interesting given the increased intratumoural microvessel density previously noted in the Lox-Ab treatment groups.

## Figure 24: Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis in KPC mice.

- a) Shows representative X4 magnification images of PDAC necrosis in Lox treatment cohorts
- b) Quantification of necrosis in Lox treatment cohorts. There was a significant difference in necrosis between the LoxAB/Gemcitabine treatment cohort and vehicle treated and gemcitabine alone treated cohorts (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.022 and 0.034 respectively, group size n≥3) and a trend towards increased necrosis over Lox treatment alone.





## Figure 25: Lysyl-oxidase inhibition has no significant effect on apoptosis in PDAC in KPC mice

Quantification of apoptosis (cleaved Caspase-3 positive cells) in Lox treatment cohorts. There was no significant difference in apoptosis between treatments (Mann-Whitney U test, group size n≥3).



# 3.6.6 Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine significantly increases intra-tumoural leukocyte infiltration

Utilising characteristic morphology and F4/80 staining I have quantified the intratumoural infiltrate of neutrophils and macrophages respectively. I have shown a significant increase in intra-tumoural neutrophils in the Lox-Ab/gemcitabine combination treatment group compared with gemcitabine alone and vehicle treated mice and a trend toward increased intratumoural neutrophils compared to lysyl-oxidase inhibition alone (p=0.027, 0.027 and 0.117 respectively) (see Fig. 26). There is also a significant increase in intra-tumoural infiltration of macrophages in the Lox-Ab/gemcitabine combination treatment group compared to the vehicle treated, Lox-AB alone and gemcitabine alone treatment groups (p=0.014, 0.004, 0.023 respectively) (see Fig. 27).

# Figure 26: Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural neutrophil infiltrates in KPC mice.

- a) Shows a representative image X40 magnification of neutrophil appearance on standard H&E stained tumour section. Inset note the characteristic nuclear shape and eosinophilic cytoplasm.
- b) Quantification of intra-tumoural neutrophil numbers in Lox treatment cohorts. There was a significant difference in intra-tumoural neutrophil numbers between the LoxAB/Gemcitabine treatment cohort and vehicle treated and gemcitabine alone treated cohorts (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.027 and 0.027 respectively, group size n≥3) and a trend to increased intra-tumoural neutrophil infiltrate over Lox treatment alone.





a)



# Figure 27: Lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural macrophage infiltration in KPC mice.

- a) Shows representative X40 magnification F4/80 stained images in Lox treatment cohorts.
  - b) Quantification of intra-tumoural macrophage infiltration in Lox treatment cohorts by pixel count analysis of F4/80 stained tissues. There was a significant difference in intra-tumoural macrophage infiltration between the LoxAB/Gemcitabine treatment cohort and vehicle treated, LoxAB alone and gemcitabine alone treated cohorts (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.014, p=0.004 and 0.023 respectively, group size n≥3).





a)



### 3.7 CXCR2 inhibition in the KPC model

CXCR2 signalling has increasingly been implicated in cancer and inflammatory conditions (Matsuo, Ochi et al. 2009; Li, King et al. 2011; Gabellini, Trisciuoglio et al. 2009) and it is well known that inflammation may in part lead to the development of PDAC (Duell, Casella et al. 2006). CXCR2 is expressed on a wide variety of cell types including inflammatory cells, tumour epithelial cells and other stromal cells such as endothelial cells. Therefore we looked to determine the effects of CXCR2 inhibition alone and in combination with gemcitabine treatment on the both the tumour epithelium and the tumour microenvironment.

### 3.7.1 CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases survival in KPC mice

Work undertaken by Colin Steele in our lab has shown that pepducin treatment (inhibition of CXCR2) significantly increases survival in KPC mice (Log-Rank p=<0.002) (see Fig. 28). Furthermore it has been shown that combination of pepducin treatment with gemcitabine treatment also reduces incidence of metastasis.

### Figure 28: CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases survival in KPC mice.

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. There was a significant difference in survival between the pepducin treated and the vehicle treated cohorts (Log-Rank p=<0.002, group size n=20). There was also reduced incidence of metastasis noted in the pepducin/gemcitabine treatment cohort. (Results and figure courtesy of Colin Steele).



# 3.7.2 CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis but has no effect on apoptosis

Due to the increase in survival we first characterised the effects of CXCR2 inhibition on the tumour epithelium itself. Work done in the lab by Colin Steele had previously highlighted that there was no significant change in cell proliferation rate as assessed by Ki67 immunostaining and quantification. Due to the lack of effect on proliferation I next characterised the changes in tumour cell viability by quantifying levels of apoptosis and necrosis. Quantification of intra-tumoural necrosis shows that pepducin treatment significantly increases intra-tumoural necrosis when compared to vehicle treatment or gemcitabine treatment alone (p=0.007 and 0.034 respectively). This increase in necrosis compared to vehicle was not seen in the gemcitabine alone treatment group and combination treatment with gemcitabine does not further increase intra-tumoural necrosis (see Fig. 29). Quantification of apoptotic tumour epithelium showed no significant difference between treatment groups (see Fig. 30).

## Figure 29: CXCR2 inhibition significantly increases necrosis in KPC tumours.

- a) Shows representative X4 magnification images of PDAC necrosis in pepducin treatment cohorts
- b) Quantification of necrosis in pepducin treatment cohorts. There was a significant difference in necrosis between pepducin and pepducin/gemcitabine treatment compared with vehicle treatment (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.007 and p=0.009 respectively, group size n≥3). There was a significant increase in necrosis in pepducin treatment alone compared to gemcitabine treatment alone (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.034, group size n≥3) and there was a trend towards increased necrosis in the pepducin/gemcitabine treatment compared to the gemcitabine alone.





a)



**Figure 30: CXCR2 inhibition has no effect on apoptosis in KPC tumours.** Quantification of apoptosis (cleaved caspase-3 positive cells) in pepducin treatment cohorts.

# 3.7.3 CXCR2 inhibition significantly reduces intra-tumoural microvessel density

Given the increase in intra-tumoural necrosis produced by pepducin alone, the inability of gemcitabine to further increase necrosis when given in combination with pepducin and the importance of CXCR2 signalling in angiogenesis (Li, Cheng et al. 2011) I next quantified intra-tumoural microvessel density. Pepducin treatment (CXCR2 inhibition) significantly decreases intra-tumoural microvessel density when compared with vehicle treatment (p=0.025) (see Fig. 31). This change was consistent and unaffected by combination of pepducin with gemcitabine treatment (p=0.025) (see Fig. 31).

## Figure 31: CXCR2 inhibition significantly decreases vessel count in KPC tumours.

- a) Shows a representative X20 magnification image of PDAC CD31 immunostaining in tumour tissue.
- b) Quantification of vessel counts in pepducin treatment cohorts. There was a significant difference in vessel counts between pepducin and pepducin/gemcitabine treatment compared with vehicle treatment (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.025 and p=0.025 respectively, group size n≥3) and gemcitabine alone (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.027 and p=0.050 respectively group size n≥3).







a)

# 3.7.4 CXCR2 inhibition increases intra-tumoural expression of tenascin C in KPC mice

As tenascin C is expressed in situations of hypoxia, I next characterised the change elicited in tenacin C expression in response to CXCR2 inhibition. I stained for tenascin C which shows that CXCR2 inhibition leads to increased tenascin C production within the stroma of KPC tumours (see Fig. 32).

## Figure 32: CXCR2 inhibition increases the expression of tenascin-C in KPC tumours.

Representative x10 magnification images of tenascin-C staining of pepducin treatment cohorts. CXCR2 inhibition markedly increases the expression of tenascin-C in pepducin treated KPC tumours. Gemcitabine treatment is also noted to markedly increase expression of tenascin-C. Pepducin and gemcitabine when given in combination have an additive effect on the increase in tenascin-C expression (group size n=5).


# 3.7.5 CXCR2 inhibition reduces intra-tumoural leukocyte infiltration in KPC mice

Previous studies have shown a significant reduction in neutrophil and macrophage numbers in response to CXCR2 inhibition (Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011). In agreement with this finding I have shown that in pepducin treated KPC mice there is a non-significant trend towards decreased numbers of intra-tumoural neutrophils and macrophages (see Figs. 33, 34 and 35).

# Figure 33: CXCR2 inhibition decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice (Haematoxylin and Eosin stain).

Quantification of neutrophils (haematoxylin and eosin stain) in pepducin treatment cohort. There was a non-significant trend towards decreased neutrophil numbers in pepducin treated tumours. This reduction was not seen when combination treatment with gemcitabine was given (Mann-Whitney U test, group size  $n \ge 3$ ).



# Figure 34: CXCR2 inhibition decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice (MPO immunostaining).

- a) Shows a representative X40 magnification image of PDAC myeloperoxidase (MPO) immunostaining in tumour tissue.
- b) Quantification of neutrophils (MPO positive cells) in pepducin treatment cohorts. There was a nonsignificant trend towards decreased neutrophil numbers in pepducin treated tumours. This reduction was not seen when combination treatment with gemcitabine was given (Mann-Whitney U test, group size n≥3).





a)



# Figure 35: CXCR2 inhibition decreases macrophage tumour infiltration in KPC mice.

- a) Shows representative X40 magnification images of F4/80 stained vehicle treated and pepducin treated tumour tissue.
- b) Quantification of macrophages (F4/80 staining by pixel count analysis) in pepducin treatment cohorts. There was a non-significant trend towards decreased macrophage numbers in pepducin treated tumours. This reduction was not seen when combination treatment with gemcitabine was given (Mann-Whitney U test, group size n≥3).



b)





## 3.7.6 CXCR2 inhibition reduces intra-tumoural collagen and elastin and intratumoural myofibroblast number in KPC mice

CXCR2 expression by neutrophils is widely appreciated, however other cell types including fibroblasts have also been shown to express CXCR2 (Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011; Marotte, Ruth et al. 2010). I quantified the levels of collagen and elastin in tumours utilising Sirius red staining and through immunohistochemical staining for alpha-SMA evaluated the numbers of myofibroblasts in treatment groups. CXCR2 inhibition caused a significant decrease in the amounts of intra-tumoural collagen and elastin (p=0.021) (see Fig. 36) and a decrease in the number of alpha-SMA positive cells (see Fig. 37).

#### Figure 36: CXCR2 inhibition decreases collagen and elastin in KPC tumours.

- a) Shows representative X20 magnification images of Sirius Red stained vehicle treated and pepducin treated tumour tissue.
- b) Quantification of collagen and elastin (Sirius red staining by pixel count analysis) in pepducin treatment cohorts. There was a significant decrease in collagen and elastin in pepducin treated tumours (Mann-Whitney U test, p=0.021, group size n≥3). This reduction was not seen when combination treatment with gemcitabine was given.





a)



# Figure 37: CXCR2 inhibition decreases myofibroblast numbers in KPC tuours.

Shows representative X20 magnification images of alphaSMA stained vehicle treated and pepducin treated tumour tissue.



#### 3.8 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out in the KPC model

Our lab has shown that inhibition of CXCR2 by pepducin has significant effects on overall survival in the KPC model of PDAC (pharmacological deletion) as well as having profound effects on the tumour epithelium and the tumour microenvironment. Work by Colin Steele in the lab is on-going to characterise the effect of constitutive knock out of the CXCR2 gene in the KPC model using a genetic model and the following are early results highlighting the changes seen in the microenvironment.

# 3.8.1 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out reduces intra-tumoural neutrophil infiltration in KPC mice

CXCR2 signalling is vital for neutrophil chemotaxis to sites of inflammation. I have shown that constitutive CXCR2 knock out significantly reduces intratumoural neutrophil infiltration in KPC mice treated with gemcitabine and a there is a trend towards decreased neutrophil numbers in CXCR2 knock out KPC mice for which we currently have small numbers (p=0.034, p=0.083 respectively) (see Fig. 38). This trend is also seen with pepducin inhibition of CXCR2 signalling but is found to be a significant finding in the context of a constitutive CXCR2 knock out.

## Figure 38: CXCR2 KO decreases neutrophil tumour infiltration in KPC mice.

Neutrophil quantification (MPO positive cells) in tumours in CXCR2 KO mice and mice expressing functional CXCR2 (group size n=2, ongoing cohort).



# 3.8.2 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out does not alter intra-tumoural microvessel density in KPC mice

I have previously shown that inhibition of CXCR2 signalling with pepducin treatment significantly reduces intra-tumoural microvessel density in KPC mice. I therefore looked to characterise changes to the tumour vasculature in the context of constitutive knock out of CXCR2. In contrast to pepducin mediated CXCR2 inhibition, constitutive knock out of CXCR2 does not have a significant effect on the intra-tumoural microvessel density (see Fig. 39).

## Figure 39: CXCR2 KO has no effect on vessel count in KPC tumours.

There is no change in vessel count between tumours in CXCR2 knockout mice and mice expressing CXCR2.



# 3.8.3 Constitutive CXCR2 knock out does not alter intra-tumoural expression of tenascin-C in KPC mice

Having shown that constitutive knockout of CXCR2 has no effect on intra-tumoural microvessel density I next demonstrated that constitutive knock out of CXCR2 also has no effect on levels of intra-tumoural tenascin C (see Fig. 40).

# Figure 40: CXCR2 KO has no effect on tenascin-C expression in KPC tumours.

There is no change in tenascin-C production between CXCR2-/- tumours and CXCR2 expressing tumours (group size  $n \ge 2$ ).



## Chapter 4

#### Discussion

### 4.1 Pancreatic ductal carcinoma and the importance of its microenvironment

In this thesis I have established robust methods of stromal characterisation and novel immunohistochemistry protocols. I have subsequently applied these methods and characterised the stroma of the KPC model of PDAC and compared this with the normal pancreas as well as determining the stromal changes caused by specific targeted therapies. In the UK pancreatic cancer is the fifth highest cause of death by cancer with a median survival post-diagnosis of only 6 months. This situation has changed little in the past few decades with median survival barely altering between 1971 and 2007. To date therapies that target specific molecular alterations within the cancer cells themselves, which have been successful in other tumour types, have not been successful in treating PDAC (Jang and Atkins 2013; Yauch and Settleman 2012). In response to the lack of success in directly targeting the tumour epithelial cells, increasing interest has been given to targeting the tumour microenvironment, a characteristic for which PDAC is well known (Feig, Gopinathan et al. 2012). In our lab a number of approaches have been taken to target the tumour microenvironment and these have greatly increased survival in mouse models of PDAC. In order to begin to further understand the mechanisms by which these approaches affect the mouse tumours it was first vital to establish robust methods for stromal characterisation.

### 4.2 Establishing robust methods for stromal characterisation

With the increasing interest in stromal targeting in cancer therapy, particularly for pancreatic cancer, there have been increasing numbers of publications evaluating the effects of different stromal targeting therapies (Bramhall, Rosemurgy et al. 2001; Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012; Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009; Jacobetz, Chan et al. 2013). Unfortunately the methods used in these publications vary greatly in their fastidiousness. We argued that it should be possible to develop a methodological approach that is less open to variation due to the subjectivity that affects these other scoring methods. Through evaluating a broad range of cellular and non-cellular stromal constituents and scoring all non-overlapping tumour FOV whilst simultaneously evaluating the running mean and standard error in each example I have established a more robust method for stromal characterisation. I

have shown that reliable estimations of stromal constituents may be obtained by scoring a minimum of 30 FOV at X20 magnification or 60 FOV at X40 magnification. This method, although more time consuming, is achievable and provides a minimum number of fields that must be evaluated in order to produce a representative average for any stromal constituent. I aimed to establish improved methods for histological analysis of stromal constituents and in so doing have increased the reliability of this method in stromal evaluation. Importantly however this approach will benefit from being run in tandem where possible with flow cytometry for cellular constituents and Western-blot and/or qPCR analysis where appropriate for other non-cellular components. Alone, and importantly in conjunction with these other methods of evaluation, the more robust method for histological assessment and quantification I have developed and used for all my analyses will lead to greater accuracy and more meaningful results when characterising stromal changes in models of cancer.

#### 4.3 Stromal characterisation of the KPC model of PDAC

Through our initial analyses we have shown that the stromal constituents of PDAC differ greatly in composition and proportion from the stroma of the normal pancreas. We have shown that there is a prominent increase in the amount of stroma with a dramatic increase in the amount of collagen and the number of activated myofibroblasts. We have shown that there is an increase in the number of inflammatory cells within the stroma of PDAC compared to the normal pancreas. We have also shown that there are significant changes in the tumour epithelium with moderate to marked amounts of necrosis compared with the parenchyma of the normal pancreas.

# 4.3.1 Characterisation of myofibroblasts and pancreatic stellate cell numbers in PDAC

Existing literature regarding PDAC refers extensively to the significant contribution that pancreatic stellate cells make to the population of activated myofibroblasts in the stroma (Apte, Park et al. 2004). In this literature cellular alphaSMA positivity has been used to label and quantify pancreatic stellate cells. As discussed previously alphaSMA is not a specific marker for pancreatic stellate cells and any activated fibroblast from any origin as well as other cells such as pericytes will stain for alphaSMA. The lack of specificity of alphaSMA as a marker for pancreatic stellate cells led us to investigate the utility of GFAP as a more specific marker for pancreatic stellate cells in PDAC. Pancreatic stellate cells are considered to be of neural crest origin and as such produce the intermediate filament GFAP. Unfortunately the characterisation of pancreatic stellate cells has been limited by the ability to isolate and study these cells in culture (Apte, Haber et al. 1998; Apte, Park et al. 2004; Wehr, Furth et al. 2011). One limitation is the fact that pancreatic stellate cells growing in an *in vitro* setting immediately become activated. Additionally the availability of specific markers which may be used to specifically isolate pancreatic stellate cells is also limited. GFAP is generally considered to be produced by quiescent pancreatic stellate cells however the literature surrounding activated pancreatic stellate cells is unfortunately less clear. I have shown that GFAP immunohistochemistry stains a small population of cells within the normal pancreas which are situated in the periacinar region as would be expected for pancreatic stellate cells. I have also shown that there is a small population of GFAP positive cells present in both human and KPC PDACs. Importantly however, the number of GFAP positive cells does not match the number of alphaSMA positive myofibroblasts in KPC tumours and this discrepancy is large in scale with the number of alphaSMA positive cells vastly exceeding the small number of GFAP positive cells present (see Fig. 9). This discrepancy may be explained by the fact that there are potentially multiple sources capable of contributing to the myofibroblast population in the KPC tumours. This is certainly a possibility with pericytes, fibrocytes, endothelial cells (through the process of endothelial to mesenchymal transition) and even epithelial cells (through epithelial to mesechymal transition) all capable of contributing to the cell population with a spindloid morphology and alphaSMA positivity (Kalluri and Neilson. 2003; van Meeteren and ten Dijke. 2012). It is also possible that although GFAP is a useful marker of quiescent stellate cells it may be unreliable as a marker once the cells have undergone activation and the associated cellular changes undertaken when becoming myofibroblasts. Indeed the morphology of the few GFAP positive cells within our KPC tumours is that of quiescent stellate cells (round and plump) and it is also possible that GFAP expression upon activation is dramatically reduced. Further evaluation of the origin of the myofibroblast population in pancreatic cancer will be required, utilising better and more specific markers, in order to

elucidate the true role played by pancreatic stellate cells in PDAC. The possibility of performing lineage tracing experiments utilising GFAP driven expression of Cre recombinase and LSL-GFP under the alphaSMA promoter is under investigation in our lab and may provide useful and vital insight into this population of cells. If confirmed, the finding that the proportion of pancreatic stellate cell derived myofibroblasts is small does not rule out the possibility that these cells are central to guiding the formation and ongoing remodelling of the tumour stroma. However it would seem prudent, until further characterised, to designate these cells generically as activated myofibroblasts rather than implying they are derived from pancreatic stellate cells.

# 4.3.2 Stromal characterisation highlights the increased levels of tenascin C in KPC stroma

Having characterised the constituents of the stroma within the KPC model of PDAC I next looked to determine levels and location of expression of tenascin C. Tenascin C has been previously shown to be produced in human PDAC however tenascin C production has not been previously reported in the KPC model of PDAC (Juuti, Nordling et al. 2004). I have developed and optimised an immunohistochemistry protocol for staining formalin fixed, paraffin embedded tissues for tenascin C which has shown that tenascin C is not produced in the normal pancreas but is present in the stroma of KPC-driven PDAC.

### 4.4 Tenascin C in PDAC

Tenascin C expression has been detected with increased frequency in the progression from early PanIN lesions through to PDAC (Esposito, Penzel et al. 2006). As a component of the extracellular matrix with significant effects on tumour cell behaviour and viability I looked to further characterise the expression of tenascin C in human PDAC and in our murine models of PDAC. I also looked to characterise changes in tenascin C expression in response to stromal targeted therapies.

Having established and optimised an immunohistochemistry protocol for staining tenascin C in formalin fixed, paraffin embedded tissue I was able to show that there is significant stromal production of tenascin C in the KPC model of PDAC.

This showed, as we suspected, that the KPC model of PDAC mirrors the stromal production of tenascin C as seen in the human disease. This finding further highlights the usefulness of the KPC model for studying the complex stroma found within these tumours.

Utilising the immunohistochemistry protocol for tenascin C I was next able to show that tenascin C expression is higher in tumours with mutated p53 (KPC) compared to those which have lost p53 (KPfIC). It has previously been shown by Jennifer Morton in our lab that the presence of mutant p53 as opposed to loss of p53 results in the capacity for tumour cells to metastasise. Interestingly the majority of the subsequent work focussing on the effects of mutant gain-of-function p53 has focussed on the changes resulting in the tumour epithelium yet here we have shown a clear difference between the stromal constituents of these tumours. This interesting finding perhaps provides a mechanism by which gain-of-function p53 mutations may alter the stromal microenvironment and, given the established role of tenascin C in metastasis, increase their metastatic ability in a non-tumour cell autonomous way.

Using human PDAC cell line xenografts and species specific tenascin C staining, I have shown that tenascin C production in PDAC is undertaken by stromal cells as opposed to the tumour cells themselves. Importantly however, using KPC cell line allografts in tenascin C knockout mice I have shown that the tumour epithelium itself will produce tenascin C in the absence of stromal production, therefore potentially highlighting a significant requirement for tenascin C expression within PDAC. This finding is consistent with the findings of Oskarsen et al. in which they found that production of tenascin C by metastatic mammary epithelial cells was vital for tumour cell survival until stromal production in the metastatic niche had reached adequate levels at 21 days (Oskarsson, Acharyya et al. 2011). Interestingly where the combination of Lox-Ab and gemcitabine is given eliciting dramatically reduced stromal tenascin the tumour epithelium itself appears to upregulate production of tenascin C. These results all confirm the importance of tenascin C to PDAC epithelial cells which was initially highlighted by the work of Bryan Miller in our lab showing that the production of tenascin C by PDAC cell lines in vitro is vital to cell viability. In this context it would seem that tenascin C is upregulated *in vitro* by cells growing in the absence of stromal cells and

associated ECM as a "stress response" due to a lack of supportive stromal signalling including altered mechanotransduction and other cytokine pathways. Taken together these findings all point to the vital role tenascin C plays in both the primary tumour and the metastatic niche and as such when the stroma is not capable of producing tenascin C the epithelium will produce tenascin C itself.

In the KPC mouse model of PDAC I have shown that treatment with gemcitabine triggers a significant increase in the expression of tenascin C. It is interesting to speculate that this may be a specific response leading to resistance to gemcitabine therapy as has been shown previously (Gong, Lv et al. 2010) or a general tumour stress response.

I have shown that lysyl-oxidase inhibition impairs the ability of the tumours to express stromal tenascin C. This impaired tenascin C expression may in part explain the loss of tumour viability through lack of supportive tumour-ECM signalling or it is tempting to speculate that the lack of protective annexin II signalling triggered by tenascin C possibly leads to a specific increase in susceptibility to gemcitabine therapy as demonstrated by Gong et al. (Gong, Lv et al. 2010). It is equally possible that the lack of tenascin C production is simply a result of reduced tissue hypoxia, due to the increase in vascular supply that we have demonstrated in response to lysyl-oxidase inhibition. If this is the case then it is possible that the tumoural responses noted are due to increased gemcitabine delivery and perhaps increased chemosensitivity due to increased vascular supply which in turn will reduce hypoxia.

Interestingly in contrast to the changes elicited by lysyl-oxidase inhibition I have also shown that tenascin C is upregulated in KPC PDAC tumours in response to CXCR2 inhibition with pepducin. This increase is likely a stress response which may be a direct result of increased tissue hypoxia due to decreased intra-tumoural microvessel density. It is interesting to speculate that this increase in tenascin C is due to increased tissue hypoxia especially given the reduction in tenascin C production noted in the context of lysyl-oxidase inhibition which increases vascular supply. Importantly lysyl-oxidase inhibition leads to increased intratumoural microvessel density, increased necrosis, a reduction in tenascin C expression and an increase in infiltrating leukocytes whereas CXCR2 inhibition leads to decreased intratumoural microvessel density, increased necrosis, increased tenascin C expression but no increase in infiltrating leukocyte numbers. Both however lead to increased survival and neither result in increased incidence of metastasis which is important especially in the context of CXCR2 inhibition given previous findings that hypoxia appears to be associated with increased metastasis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Matsuo, Ding et al. 2013). The reduced incidence of metastasis in this example of increased hypoxia is in agreement with other findings in our lab where VEGF inhibition had no effect on metastasis in the KPC model. Importantly in the context of both lysl-oxidase inhibition and CXCR2 inhibition the presence or absence of hypoxia will need to be confirmed utilising methods such as pimonidazole or GLUT-1 staining. Tenascin C production however is also triggered by alterations in tissue stiffness (Jones and Jones 2000) so it is also possible that the increased production of tenascin C noted upon CXCR2 inhibition could be the result of altered ECM composition and architecture as highlighted by the reduction in collagen and elastin and also the reduction in myofibroblast numbers in treated tumours. Given preliminary findings in the setting of PDAC in a genetic model of CXCR2 deletion (CXCR2 -/-) where there is no decrease in tumour vasculature and concurrently there is also no increase in tenascin C production it seems plausible that the increased tenascin C production in response to pepducin treatment is likely due to hypoxia. This finding is consistent with my finding that the production of tenascin C in the human PDAC TMA strongly correlates with levels of HIF-1alpha.

In agreement with others I have shown that tenascin C significantly correlates with differentiation in human PDAC (Juuti, Nordling et al. 2004). Additionally our data, to the best of our knowledge, show for the first time a significant correlation between high tenascin C expression and decreased survival in human PDAC patients (see Fig. 17). In my analysis of the tenascin C levels in the human TMA I have also shown that there is a significant positive correlation between tenascin C levels and tumour cell proliferation, tumour grade and there is also a trend towards a positive correlation between tenascin C expression and vascular invasion. As stated previously this analysis of the human PDAC TMA has also confirmed the positive correlation between hypoxia and tenascin C expression. These findings, which would benefit from confirmation in whole tumour sections in addition to this TMA, may in part explain the reasons for decreased survival in patients with high

levels of tenascin-C expression and again highlight the important role tenascin C plays in both the primary PDAC tumours and in the metastatic process.

Interestingly in agreement with others, analysis of tenascin C production in the human PDAC TMA highlights a significant positive correlation between integrin signalling and tenascin C (Sriramarao, Mendler et al. 1993; Yokosaki, Palmer et al. 1994; Varnum-Finney, Venstrom et al. 1995; Yokosaki, Monis et al. 1996). Analysis has also shown a significant correlation with tenascin C and the integrin  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  which to our knowledge has not been shown previously.

Finally data from a human PDAC RNA tissue microarray has confirmed that there is a significant positive correlation between lysyl-oxidase and tenascin-C expression in human PDAC. This finding supports the finding that lysyl-oxidase inhibition in the KPC model significantly decreases tenascin C expression.

## 4.5 Lysyl-oxidase in PDAC

The characteristic desmoplastic stroma found in PDAC has been implicated in promoting tumour growth, progression, invasion and metastasis. Recent studies have also suggested that the stroma functions to prevent drug delivery to the tumour epithelium (Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012). Lysyl-oxidase, an enzyme which catalyses the crosslinking of collagen and elastins, plays a central role in the generation and maintenance of this "stiff" desmoplastic stroma (Baker, Cox et al. 2011).

To date, lysyl-oxidase has been associated predominantly with the metastatic spread of cancers however through specific inhibition of lysyl-oxidase we have shown that it also plays a vital and ongoing role in an established primary tumour.

Work in our lab has shown that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase alone increases survival in KPC mice and that combination with gemcitabine therapy further increases survival to a median of 226 days.

Jen Morton and Bryan Miller in our lab have shown that expression of lysyloxidase is high in all our mouse models of PDAC when compared with primary pancreatic ductal epithelial cells. Work by Jen Morton has shown that lysyl-oxidase expression is most significantly increased in those tumours that carry gain-offunction mutant p53. Interestingly this finding that lysyl-oxidase expression is highest in these tumours correlates with my work showing increased tenascin C expression in the same model. I have also shown that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase inhibits expression of tenascin C which again correlates with other work in the human PDAC RNA microarray that has shown that there is a strong positive correlation between lysyl-oxidase expression and tenascin C expression. These findings taken together are highly suggestive that lysyl-oxidase and tenascin C may play an important role in the mechanism through which gain-of-function mutant p53 (KPC) tumours are able to successfully metastasize to distant sites whereas tumours with only loss of p53 (KPfIC) cannot.

Work by Ewan McGhee, Paul Timpson and Jen Morton confirmed a significant decrease in collagen-crosslinking in Lox-Ab treated tumours through evaluation of the second harmonic resonance signal using multiphoton microscopy. This finding confirms the efficacy of the Lox-Ab being used in this study and the resultant "stromal softening".

Work undertaken in our lab has shown that in resectable human PDAC, lysyloxidase expression correlates with expression of Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha. The same work showed that high expression of both lysyl-oxidase and Hypoxiainducible factor 1-alpha signifies a bad prognosis in resectable human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (See Fig. 41). This finding raises the interesting possibility that ultrasound elastography may provide a clinically useful biomarker which would mirror the lysyl-oxidase/HIF-1a axis and could be assessed utilising endoscopic ultrasound scanning in the clinic.

## Figure 41: LOX expression and Hypoxia are significantly associated with survival in human PDAC.

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. There was a significant difference in survival between the Lox High and the Lox Low cohorts (Log-Rank p=8.1e-4) and patients with high levels of hypoxia also had significantly reduced survival (Log-Rank p=5.9e-4). (Figure and results courtesy of Jen Morton).



It is well established that PDAC tumours have a poor vascular supply which leads to a state of hypoxia within tumours and has also been shown to limit drug delivery to tumour cells (Provenzano, Cuevas et al. 2012). Amy Au in our lab has shown that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase results in an increase in the intra-tumoural vasculature. This finding contradicts work that has shown that inhibition of lysyloxidase leads to a reduction in the intra-tumoural vasculature (Osawa, Ohga et al. 2013). It is possible that the reduction in the "stiffness" of the stroma due to lysyloxidase inhibition permits increased migration of endothelial cells into the tumour thereby increasing blood supply to the tumour. It is also possible that the resultant stromal softening allows further opening of already existing vasculature, a mechanism highlighted in the context of hedgehog signalling inhibition (Olive, Jacobetz et al. 2009).

The ability to stimulate angiogenesis is a process considered to be one of the major hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). We might therefore find it concerning that a treatment aiming to treat cancer, through increasing vascular supply, is actually augmenting one of the processes considered fundamental to tumourigenesis. Contrary to this view we have shown that treatment with lysyl-oxidase alone significantly increases survival and more

importantly in combination with gemcitabine provides an additional survival advantage.

This benefit may be explained by the selective increase in intra-tumoural necrosis I have shown in the Lox-Ab/gemcitabine combination treatment group. This increase in necrosis with the addition of gemcitabine suggests that lysyl-oxidase may be increasing delivery of gemcitabine to the tumour cells thereby triggering tumour cell death by necrosis. It is also well established that hypoxia itself can decrease the susceptibility of tumour cells to chemotherapeutic agents; therefore it is also possible that lysyl-oxidase by increasing tumour blood supply also decreases the tissue hypoxia and in so doing increases the sensitivity of the tumour to gemcitabine.

In addition to the increased necrosis seen in the Lox-Ab/gemcitabine treatment group I have also shown an increase in the infiltration of intra-tumoural neutrophils and macrophages. It has been suggested that the poor vascular supply in PDAC may limit leukocyte infiltration in vehicle treated tumours however as this infiltration is not seen in KPC tumours treated with Lox-Ab alone it is likely that this infiltration is occurring in response to the significant intra-tumoural necrosis in the Lox-Ab/Gemcitabine combination treatment group with leukocyte infiltration being aided by the increased tumour vasculature.

As mentioned previously I have also shown that inhibition of Iysyl-oxidase leads to dramatically reduced stromal tenascin C expression. It is possible that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase by increasing tumour vasculature in turn reduces tissue hypoxia thereby decreasing the drive for production of tenascin C. It is also possible that altered tissue "stiffness" reduces the expression of tenascin C by stromal cells. Additionally, tenascin C also has a large number of binding domains for extracellular matrix molecules such as fibronectin (Chiquet-Ehrismann 2004). As such it is possible that inhibition of lysyl-oxidase resulting in reduced crosslinking of collagen and elastin results in a significantly altered extracellular matrix architecture in which tenascin C is unable bind and interact in a normal manner.

Finally as discussed previously I have shown that there is an increase in stromal tenascin C in response to gemcitabine treatment. Interestingly tenascin C has been shown to induce gemcitabine resistance in pancreatic cancer through

annexin II signalling in a PI3K/Akt/NF-kB dependent manner (Gong, Lv et al. 2010). It is therefore possible that one mechanism by which lysyl-oxidase inhibition sensitizes PDAC to gemcitabine treatment in addition to increasing drug delivery is through the prevention of the protective upregulation of tenascin C.

### 4.6 CXCR2 signalling in PDAC

The role of CXCR2 signalling in epithelial cancers is well established and CXCR2 and its ligands have been shown to be upregulated in both human disease and mouse models of PDAC (Takamori, Oades et al. 2000; Kuwada, Sasaki et al. 2003; Hill, Gaziova et al. 2012; Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011). Expression of CXCR2 is not limited to the PDAC tumour cells as a wide variety of cells including neutrophils, macrophages, endothelial cells and fibroblasts have been shown to express the receptor (Heidemann, Ogawa et al. 2003; Strieter, Burdick et al. 2006; Li, Cheng et al. 2011; Soehnlein, Drechsler et al. 2013; Hallgren and Gurish 2011; Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011; Sharma, Nawandar et al. 2013; Feijoo, Alfaro et al. 2005; Marotte, Ruth et al. 2010). Given the high levels of expression of CXCR2 ligands and the widespread expression of the receptor; CXCR2 signalling has increasingly gained attention as a possible therapeutic target in pancreatic cancer.

The expression of CXCR2 by a variety of cell types including the tumour cells themselves means that the effects of CXCR2 inhibition are potentially wide ranging within the tumour and its stroma.

Inhibition of CXCR2 signalling in the KPC model of PDAC significantly increases survival (Colin Steele, personal communication). Furthermore combination therapy with gemcitabine provides a further but only moderate increase in survival. There is also no significant effect on tumour cell proliferation in response to CXCR2 inhibition and I have shown that CXCR2 inhibition causes a dramatic increase in intra-tumoural necrosis with no alteration of tumour cell apoptosis.

The expression of the CXCR2 receptor on endothelial cells and bone marrow derived endothelial progenitor cells is well characterised (Li, Cheng et al. 2011). The importance of CXCR2 signalling to the stimulation of angiogenesis in tumours is therefore of great importance. I have shown that inhibition of CXCR2 signalling with pepducin causes a significant reduction in the tumour vasculature. This reduction in vascular supply to the tumour may well be one of the important factors

triggering the dramatic increase in intra-tumoural necrosis. In contrast to this, Lox-Ab treatment increases vascular supply resulting in increased drug delivery/ sensitivity and therefore increased necrosis. It is likely that the tumours which are characteristically hypovascular and hypoxic are on a knife-edge and through pepducin induced CXCR2 inhibition the decrease in tumour vasculature tips the tumour into a state of hypoxia in which tumour cells are no longer viable. Although results are preliminary it is interesting to note that constitutive knock out of the CXCR2 receptor in the KPC model of PDAC does not cause any significant alteration in tumour vasculature. The lack of suppression of tumour angiogenesis in this model may be due to the fact that, from early tumourigenesis tumours have developed in the absence of CXCR2 signalling and as such will have circumvented the requirement for CXCR2 signalling. Whereas pepducin induced CXCR2 inhibition was initiated after tumours had developed. Similarly, previous literature highlighting the importance of CXCR2 signalling in tumour induced angiogenesis has not evaluated tumour tissue that has developed in a CXCR2 -/context and as such although they have shown that CXCR2 is vital to angiogenesis they do not prove that other mechanisms are not capable of fulfilling this role if required (lijchi, Chytil et al. 2011). Utilising a pepducin molecule which inhibits CXCR2 signalling in the KPC model I have shown that CXCR2 signalling, if present during tumour development, is vital for triggering angiogenesis. Importantly work by others and results obtained in our pepducin treated mice have not shown that CXCR2 inhibition leads to a complete absence of vasculature in the tissues being investigated; therefore there must be other mechanisms capable of triggering angiogenesis in this context (ljichi, Chytil et al. 2011). It is possible that although CXCR2 is the dominant receptor for proangiogenic ELR+ CXC chemokines other receptors such CXCR1 may still be able to play a significant role. Indeed CXCR1, although not the primary proangiogenic ELR+ chemokine receptor, is a receptor for a number of these chemokines (Strieter, Burdick et al. 2006). Interestingly this raises the possibility that the CXCR2 inhibiting pepducin molecule used in this study may have additional minor inhibitory actions such as inhibition of CXCR1 signalling in addition to inhibiting CXCR2 which together results in greater inhibition of angiogenesis. In light of this it will be prudent to determine whether the pepducin used in this work has any effect on angiogenesis, as well as other parameters, in the KPC model on a CXCR2-/- background. In

addition to the CXCR2 and CXCR1 receptors there are also a variety of other ligands and receptors that have been shown to be important in triggering angiogenesis. For example CXCR4 and its ligand CXCL12 and nitric oxide synthase have been shown to have important roles in angiogenesis in xenotransplantation models of adenoid cystic carcinomas of the oral floor in mice (Takoaka, Hidaka et al. 2013). With further work the intricacies of the mechanisms of induction of angiogenesis utilised by tumours will be further clarified. It is likely that there are multiple pathways that tumours may utilise to trigger angiogenesis however given a greater understanding of these pathways the possibility of determining which signalling pathways are most important for angiogenesis in any given tumour may allow for patient and tumour specific targeted therapies.

Interestingly given the massive increase in necrosis triggered by pepducin induced inhibition of CXCR2 signalling there is a trend towards decreased intra-tumoural leukocyte infiltration. Preliminary results indicate that this change is mirrored in KPC mice with constitutive knock out of CXCR2. The usual response to necrosis *in vivo* is the initial influx of neutrophils which are subsequently followed into the tissue by macrophages, a response that is conspicuously lacking in response to CXCR2 inhibition. We have shown that CXCR2 inhibition decreases the intratumoural infiltration by leukocytes most likely by preventing leukocyte chemotaxis although it is possible that the reduced tumour vasculature also reduces the available window of entry for leukocytes into the tumour. This reduction of leukocytes is important but needs further investigation as the role of intra-tumoural leukocytes is highly context dependent and they may be either anti or protumourigenic. It has been shown that neutrophils and macrophages may exhibit either an N1/M1 anti-tumour phenotype or an N2/M2 pro-tumourigenic phenotype in response to polarizing cytokine signalling with macrophages for example in response to IL-10 and TGFβ signalling switching from an M1 to M2 phenotype (Sica and Mantovani 2012). It will therefore be interesting to determine whether an alteration in leukocyte phenotype occurs in response to CXCR2 inhibition.

Macrophages and neutrophils have also both been shown to play important roles in angiogenesis (Sica and Mantovani 2012; Tazzyman, Lewis et al. 2009) and the reduction in tumour vasculature by CXCR2 inhibition may in part be due to the reduction in intra-tumoural leukocytes. Macrophages and neutrophils have additionally been shown to promote tumour cell migration and invasion through release of enzymes such as MMPs and through opening holes in vessel basement membranes on extravasation (Smith and Kang 2013). Therefore reduction in intra-tumoural leukocyte numbers may additionally reduce the invasive and metastatic potential of a tumour which in addition to the reduced vascular window due to decreased vessel numbers may in part explain the reduced metastatic spread noted with CXCR2 inhibition in our model (Tazzyman, Lewis et al. 2009; Bohrer, Schwertfeger et al. 2012).

In addition to reduced vasculature and leukocyte infiltration, CXCR2 inhibition caused a reduction in the number of myofibroblasts and amounts of collagen and elastin within treated tumours. It has been shown by others that CXCR2 signalling between tumour epithelium and fibroblasts leads to connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) expression which is important to tumour progression (Ijichi, Chytil et al. 2011). The importance of the desmoplastic stroma to PDAC is well established and therefore any reduction in the stroma likely has a significant effect on the viability of the tumour.

Interestingly, given the reduced stromal cell population in response to CXCR2 inhibition, expression of tenascin C is markedly increased. Tenascin C is involved in tumour progression and maintenance, angiogenesis, metastasis migration and invasion. It is produced in a variety of situations including mechanical stress and hypoxia (Jones and Jones 2000). The increase in tenasin C expression in this instance is most likely a stress response as a result of decreased tumour vasculature resulting in tissue hypoxia which is driving production. The increased tenascin C is likely providing tumour epithelium with support for example through attempts at stimulating angiogenesis and through augmentation of WNT and Notch signalling. Finally we have shown that combination with gemcitabine again causes a further increase in tenascin C production as noted in our work characterising stromal changes elicited by lysyl-oxidase inhibition. As discussed previously this may be additional evidence of a tenascin C induced mechanism of gemcitabine resistance.

### 4.7 The interlinked roles of lysyl-oxidase, CXCR2 and tenascin C in PDAC

The tumour microenvironment is an extremely complex "ecosystem" in a constant state of flux (Feig, Gopinathan et al. 2012). Within the microenvironment there are many factors seemingly essential for the maintenance of tumour cell viability however there is also extreme plasticity within the microenvironment allowing for continuous tumour adaptation and survival. The cellular and protein constituents of the microenvironment and the pathways that control them are complex and interlinked but crucial to this plasticity. CXCR2, lysyl-oxidase, tenascin C and hypoxia appear to be central components with significant roles within the tumour microenvironment (see Fig. 42) which is itself considered to promote tumorigenesis, maintenance of tumour cell viability, drug resistance and metastasis.



**Figure 42: The roles of Lysyl-oxidase, CXCR2 and Tenascin C in PDAC** Summary of the roles of lysyl oxidase, CXCR2 and tenascin C as highlighted in this work.

#### **Future Work**

Through the work undertaken in this thesis I have developed more robust methods for histological characterisation of stromal constituents in tumour tissues. I have shown that tenascin C is important in human PDAC having a significant effect on survival in patients and significantly correlating with hypoxia, lysyl-oxidase expression, differentiation and possibly invasive behaviour. I have also shown that it is produced and potentially has important roles in the KPC model of PDAC that mirror those found in human disease. In agreement with others we have shown that the stroma in PDAC is a useful and effective therapeutic target. We have shown that both CXCR2 inhibition and lysl-oxidase inhibition have significant effects on survival in KPC models of PDAC. I have also highlighted significant effects on tenascin C expression in the context of CXCR2 inhibition and lysyloxidase inhibition.

In the lab we are currently generating a cohort of tenascin-C knock out KPC mice which will allow us to assess the survival benefit in PDAC. From these mice it will be possible to generate tenascin C knock out KPC PDAC cell lines with which, in conjunction with tenascin C-/- and tenascin C +/+ allograft recipients, we will be able to further characterise the importance of tumour derived tenascin C as opposed to that produced by the stroma. The observation that tenascin C is upregulated in response to gemcitabine treatment also requires further assessment, specifically in reference to the mechanism by which lysyl-oxidase inhibition in combination with gemcitabine treatment triggers PDAC tumour cell necrosis. Tenascin C may also be a potential target in combination with other treatments. For example in pepducin treated KPC mice where there is an upregulation of tenascin C in response to CXCR2 inhibition as a result of hypoxia, tenascin C is likely playing a tumour supportive role. It will therefore be vital to determine the effects of CXCR2 inhibition in tenascin C knockout KPC models of PDAC or in combination with lysyl-oxidase inhibitors. The role of tenascin C and lysyl-oxidase in mutant p53 mediated metastasis is also potentially of great importance. Given that in the non-metastatic p53 null (KPfIC) mouse model of PDAC there is minimal production of tenascin C and lysyl-oxidase evaluating the effect of overexpression of tenascin C and/or lysyl-oxidase in p53 null (KPfIC) PDAC cell line xenografts and allografts will be of great interest.

I have also shown that CXCR2 inhibition significantly decreases the number of myofibroblasts in KPC PDAC models. Unfortunately I was unable to fully characterise the source of these myofibroblasts. It is generally accepted that pancreatic stellate cells are the source of myofibroblasts in PDAC (Apte, Park et al. 2004). This is a finding that we were unable to confirm. Work to attempt to lineage trace these cells is necessary and is ongoing in the lab. This work will allow clarification of the specific contribution pancreatic stellate cells make to the generation of the characteristic desmoplastic stroma in PDAC and allow characterisation of the changes that occur in this population of cells by stroma targeted therapies. This will be particularly important given the early work being undertaken by Fearon et al. which is highlighting the potential significance of a FAP alpha positive "stellate cell" population, the ablation of which results in T cell mediated immune control of the growth of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Kraman, Bambrough et al. 2010).

Finally the failure of the human trial of IPI-926, a SHH inhibitor, likely highlights the need to fully and carefully evaluate stromal changes in response to targeted therapies in order to highlight robust alterations which are likely to represent significant changes relevant to human disease (Infinity pharmaceuticals. <u>http://phx.corporate-ir.net/pheonix.zhtml?c=12194&p=irol-newsArticle&ID=1653550&highlight=</u> (accessed 09.08.13)) This we believe is achievable utilising the thorough methods that we have established.

#### References

- Ahuja, S.K., and P.M. Murphy, (1996). "The CXC chemokines growth-regulated oncogene (GRO) alpha, GRObeta, GROgamma, neutrophil-activating peptide-2 and epithelial cell-derived neutrophil-activating peptide-78 are potent agonists for the type B, but not the type A, human interleukin 8receptor." J Biol Chem 271 (34):20545-20550.
- Almoguera, C., Shibata, D., Forrester, K., Martin, J., Arnheim, N., & Perucho, M (1988). "Most human carcinomas of the exocrine pancreas contain mutant c-K-ras genes." <u>Cell</u> **53**(4): 549-554.
- Apte, M. V., Haber, P. S., Applegate, T. L., Norton, I. D., McCaughan, G. W., Korsten, M. A., Pirola, R. C., & Wilson, J. S. (1998). "Periacinar stellate shaped cells in rat pancreas: identification, isolation, and culture." <u>Gut</u> **43**(1): 128-133.
- Apte, M. V., Park, S., Phillips, P. A., Santucci, N., Goldstein, D., Kumar, R. K., Ramm, G. A., Buchler, M., Friess, H., McCarroll, J. A., Keogh, G., Merrett, N., Pirola, R., & Wilson, J. S. (2004). "Desmoplastic reaction in pancreatic cancer: role of pancreatic stellate cells." <u>Pancreas</u> 29(3): 179-187.
- Baggiolini, M., Dewald, B., & Moser, B. (1994). "Interleukin-8 and related chemotactic cytokines—CXC and CC chemokines." <u>Adv Immunol.</u> 55: 96-179.
- Baier, P. K., Wolff-Vorbeck, G., Eggstein, S., Baumgartner, U., & Hopt, U. T. (2005). "Cytokine expression in colon carcinoma." <u>Anticancer Res.</u> 25(3B): 2135-2139.
- Baker, A., Bird, D., Welti, J. C., Gourlaouen, M., Lang, G., Murray, G. I., Reynolds, A. R., Cox, T. R., & Erler, J. T. (2013). "Lysyl oxidase plays a critical role in endothelial cell stimulation to drive tumor angiogenesis." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 73(2): 583-594.
- Baker, A., Cox, T. R., Bird, D., Lang, G., Murray, G. I., Sun, X., Southall, S. M., Wilson, J. R., & Erler, J. T. (2011). "The role of lysyl oxidase in SRCdependent proliferation and metastasis of colorectal cancer." <u>J Natl Cancer</u> <u>Inst.</u> 103(5): 407-424.
- Benelli, R., Morini, M., Carrozzino, F., Ferrari, N., Minghelli, S., Santi, L., Cassatella, M., Noonan, D. M., & Albini, A. (2002). "Neutrophils as a key cellular target for angiostatin: implications for regulation of angiogenesis and inflammation." <u>FASEB J.</u> 16(2): 267-279.
- Bohrer, L. R., & Schwertfeger, K. L. (2012). "Macrophages promote fibroblast growth factor receptor-driven tumor cell migration and invasion in a CXCR2dependent manner." <u>Mol Cancer Res.</u> **10**(10): 1294-1305.

- Bouck, N., Stellmach, V., & Hsu, S. (1996). "How tumors become angiogenic." <u>Adv</u> <u>Cancer Res.</u> 69:135-174.
- Bourdon, M. A., Wikstrand, C. J., Furthmayr, H., Matthews, T. J., & Bigner, D. D. (1983). "Human glioma-mesenchymal extracellular matrix antigen defined by monoclonal antibody." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 43(6): 2796-2805.
- Bramhall, S. R., Rosemurgy, A., Brown, P. D., Bowry, C., & Buckels, J. A. C. (2001). "Marimastat as first-line therapy for patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer: a randomized trial." <u>J Clin Oncol.</u> **19**(15): 3447-3455.
- Brosig, M., Ferralli, J., Gelman, L., Chiquet, M., & Chiquet-Ehrismann, R. (2010). "Interfering with the connection between the nucleus and the cytoskeleton affects nuclear rotation, mechanotransduction and myogenesis." <u>Int J</u> <u>Biochem Cell Biol.</u> **42**(10): 1717-1728.
- Butcher, D. T., Alliston, T., & Weaver, V. M. (2009). "A tense situation: forcing tumour progression." <u>Nat Rev Cancer.</u> **9**(2): 108-122.
- Canfield, A. E., & Schor, A. M. (1995). "Evidence that tenascin and thrombospondin-1 modulate sprouting of endothelial cells." <u>J Cell Sci.</u> **108**(2): 797-809.
- Chiquet-Ehrismann, R. (2004). "Tenascins." Int J Biochem Cell Biol. **36**(6): 986-990.
- Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Kalla, P., Pearson, C. A., Beck, K., & Chiquet, M. (1988). "Tenascin interferes with fibronectin action." <u>Cell</u> **53**(3): 383-390.
- Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Kalla, P., & Pearson, C. A. (1989). "Participation of tenascin and transforming growth factor-beta in reciprocal epithelialmesenchymal interactions of CF7 cells and fibroblasts." <u>Cancer Res.</u> **49**(15): 4322-4325.
- Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Mackie, E. J., Pearson, C. A., & Sakakura, T. (1986).
   "Tenascin: an extracellular matrix protein involved in tissue interactions during fetal development and oncogenesis." <u>Cell</u> **47**(1): 131-139.
- Chiquet-Ehrismann R., & Tucker, R.P. (2011). "Tenascin C and the importance of adhesion modulation." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.</u> **3**95(5).
- Chung, C. Y., Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., & Erickson, H. P. (1996). "Mitogenesis, cell migration, and loss of focal adhesion induced by tenascin-C interating with its cell surface receptor, annexin II." Mol Biol Cell. 7(6):883-892.
- Chong, H. C., Tan, C. K., Huang, R. L., & Tan, N. S. (2012). "Matricellular proteins: a sticky affair with cancers." <u>J Oncol.</u> 2012:351089.

- Dandachi, N., Hauser-Kronberger, C., More, E., Wiesener, B., Hacker, G. W., Dietze, O., & Wirl, G. (2001). "Co-expression of tenascin-C and vimentin in human breast cancer cells indicates phenotypic transdifferentiation during tumour progression: correlation with histopathological parameters, hormone receptors, and oncoproteins." J Pathol. 193(2): 181-189.
- Decitre, M., Gleyzal, C., Raccurt, M., Peyrol, S., Aubert-Foucher, E., Csiszar, K., & Sommer, P. (1998). "Lysyl oxidase-like protein localizes to sites of de novo fibrinogenesis in fibrosis and in the early stromal reaction of ductal breast carcinomas." <u>Lab Invest.</u> **78**(2): 143-151.
- DeNicola, G. M., Karreth, F. A., Humpton, T. J., Gopinathan, A., Wei, C., Frese, K., Mangal, D., Yu, K. H., Yeo, C. J., Calhoun, E. S., Scrimieri, F., Winter, J.M., Hruban, R. H., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C., Kern, S. E., Blair, I. A., & Tuveson, D. A. (2011). "Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis." <u>Nature</u> 475(7354): 106-109.
- Deryugina, E. I., & Bourdon, M. A. (1996). "Tenascin mediates human glioma cell migration and modulates cell migration on fibronectin." <u>J Cell Sci.</u> 109(3): 643-652.
- De Wever, O., Nguyen, Q. D., Van Hoorde, L., Bracke, M., Bruyneel, E., Gespach, C., & Mareel, M. (2004). "Tenascin-C and SF/HGF produced by myofibroblasts in vitro provide convergent pro-invasive signals to human colon cancer cells through RhoA and Rac." FASEB J. 18(9): 1016-1018.
- Diller, L., Kassel, J., Nelson, C. E., Aâ Gryka, M., Litwak, G., Gebhardt, M., Bressac, B., Ozturk, M., Baker, S. J. & Vogelstein, B. (1990). "p53 functions as a cell cycle control protein in osteosarcomas." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u>. **10**(11): 5772-5781.
- Discher, D. E., Janmey, P., & Wang, Y. L. (2005). "Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate." <u>Science</u> **310**(5751): 1139-1143.
- Duell, E. J., Casella, D. P., Burk, R. D., Kelsey, K. T., & Holly, E. A. (2006).
   "Inflammation, genetic polymorphisms in proinflammatory genes TNF-A, RANTES, and CCR5, and risk of pancreatic adenocarcinoma." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.</u> 15(4): 726-731.
- Ellis, C. A., & Clark, G. (2000). "The importance of being K-Ras." <u>Cell Signal</u> **12**(7): 425-434.
- Erler, J. T., Bennewith, K. L., Nicolau, M., Dornhöfer, N., Kong, C., Le, Q., Chi, J. A., Jeffrey, S. S., & Giaccia, A. J. (2006). "Lysyl oxidase is essential for hypoxia-induced metastasis." <u>Nature</u> **440**(7088): 1222-1226.
- Erler, J. T., Bennewith, K. L., Cox, T. R., Lang, G., Bird, D., Koong, A., Le, Q., & Giaccia, A. J. (2009). "Hypoxia-induced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of

bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **15**(1): 35-44.

- Esposito, I., R. Penzel, et al. Esposito, L., Penzel, R., Chaib-Harrireche, M., Barcena, U., Bergmann, F., Riedl, S., Kayed, H., Giese, N., Kleeff, J., Friess, H., & Schirmacher, P. (2006). "Tenascin C and annexin II expression in the process of pancreatic carcinogenesis." <u>J Pathol</u> 208(5): 673-685.
- Feig, C., Gopinathan, A., Neesse, A., Chan, D. S., Cook, N., & Tuveson, D. A. (2012). "The pancreas cancer microenvironment." <u>Clin Cancer Res.</u> 18(16): 4266-4276.
- Feijoó, E., C. Alfaro, et al. Feijoó1, E., Alfaro, C., Mazzolini, G., Serra, P., Peñuelas, I., Arina, A., Huarte, E., Tirapu, I., Palencia, B., Murillo, O., Ruiz, J., Sangro, B., Richter, J. A., Prieto, J., & Melero, I. (2005). "Dendritic cells delivered inside human carcinomas are sequestered by interleukin-8." <u>Int J Cancer.</u> **116**(2):275-281.
- Fukunaga-Kalabis, M., Martinez, G., Nguyen, T. K., Kim, D., Santiago-Walker, A., Roesch, A., & Herlyn, M. (2010). "Tenascin-C promotes melanoma progression by maintaining the ABCB5-positive side population." <u>Oncogene</u> 29(46): 6115-6124.
- Gabellini, C., Trisciuoglio, D., Desideri, M., Candiloro, A., Ragazzoni, Y., Orlandi, A., Zupi, G., & Del Bufalo, D. (2009). "Functional activity of CXCL8 receptors, CXCR1 and CXCR2, on human malignant melanoma progression." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> **45**(14): 2618-2627.
- Gong, X. G., Lv, Y. F., Li, X. Q., Xu, F. G., & Ma, Q. Y. (2010). "Gemcitabine resistance induced by interaction between alternatively spliced segment of tenascin-C and annexin A2 in pancreatic cancer cells." <u>Biol Pharm Bull.</u> 33(8): 1261-1267.
- Hallgren, J., & Gurish, M. F. (2011). "Mast cell progentior trafficking and maturation." Adv Exp Med Biol 716:14-28.
- Han, L., Jiang, B., Wu, H., Wang, X., Tang, X., Huang, J., & Zhu, J. (2012). "High expression of CXCR2 is associated with tumorigenesis, progression, and prognosis of laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma." <u>Med Oncol.</u> 29(4): 2466-2472.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). "The hallmarks of cancer." Cell 100(1): 57-70.
- Heidemann, J., H. Ogawa, et al. Heidemann, J., Ogawa, H., Dwinell, M. B., Rafiee,P., Maaser, C., Gockel, H. R., Otterson, M.F., Ota, D. M., Lügering, N.,Domschke, W., & Binion, D. G. (2003). "Angiogenic effects of interleukin 8

(CXCL8) in human intestinal microvascular endothelial cells are mediated by CXCR2." J Biol Chem. **278**(10): 8508-8515.

- Helleman, J., M.P. Jansen, et al. Helleman, J., Jansen, M. P. H. M., Ruigrok-Ritstier, K., van Staveren, I. L., Look, M. P., Meijer-van Gelder, M. E., Sieuwerts, A. M., Klijn, J. G. M., Sleijfer, S., Foekens, J. A., & Berns, E. M. J. J. (2008). "Association of an extracelllular matrix gene cluster with breast cancer prognosis and endocrine therapy response." <u>Clin Cancer Res.</u> 14(17): 5555-5564.
- Hill, K. S., Gaziova, I., Harrigal, L., Guerra, Y. A., Qiu, S., Sastry, S. K., Arumugam, T., Logsdon, C. D., & Elferink, L. A. (2012). "Met receptor tyrosine kinase signalling induces secretion of the angiogenic chemokine interleukin-8/CXCL8 in pancreatic cancer." <u>PloS One.</u> 7(7):e40420
- Hingorani, S. R., Petricoin, E. F., Maitra, A., Rajapakse, V., King, C., Jacobetz, M. A., Ross, S., Conrads, T. P., Veenstra, T. D., Hitt, B. A., Kawaguchi, Y., Johann, D., Liotta, L. A., Crawford, H. C., Putt, M. E., Jacks, T., Wright, C. V. E., Hruban, R. H., Lowy, A. M., Tuveson, D. A. (2003). "Preinvasive and invasive ductal pancreatic cancer and its early detection in the mouse." <u>Cancer Cell</u> 4(6): 437-450.
- Hruban, R. H., Adsay, N. V., Albores–Saavedra, J., Compton, C., Garrett, E. S., Goodman, S. N., Kern, S. E., Klimstra, D. S., Klöppel, G., Longnecker, D. S., Lüttges, J., Offerhaus, G. J. A. (2001). "Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia: a new nomenclature and classification system for pancreatic duct lesions." <u>Am J Surg Pathol.</u> **25**(5): 579-586.
- Hruban, R. H., Goggins, M., Parsons, J., & Kern, S. E. (2000). "Progression model for pancreatic cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res.</u> **6**(8): 2969-2972.
- Hruban, R. H., Van Mansfeld, A. D., Offerhaus, J. G., Van Weering, D. H., Allison, D. C., Goodman, S. N., Kensler, T. W., Bose, K. K., Cameron, J. L. & Bos, J. L. (1993). "K-ras oncogene activation in adenocarcinoma of the human pancreas. A study of 82 carcinomas using a combination of mutant-enriched polymerase chain reaction analysis and allele-specific oligonucleotide hybridization." <u>Am J Pathol.</u> 143(2): 545-554.
- Hruban, R. H., Wilentz, R. E., & Kern, S. E. (2000). "Genetic progression in the pancreatic ducts." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **156**(6): 1821-1825.
- Huang, W., Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Moyano, J. V., Garcia-Pardo, A., & Orend, G. (2001). "Interference of tenascin-C with syndecan-4 binding to fibronectin blocks cell adhesion and stimulates tumor cell proliferation." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 61(23): 8586-8594.

http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancer-info/cancerstats/

- Ijichi, H., Chytil, A., Gorska, A. E., Aakre, M. E., Bierie, B., Tada, M., Mohri, D., Miyabayashi, K., Asoaka, Y., Maeda, S., Ikenoue, T., Tateishi, K., Wright, C. V. E., Koike, K., Omata, M., & Moses, H. L (2011). "Inhibiting Cxcr2 disrupts tumor-stromal interactions and improves survival in a mouse model of pancreatic adenocarcinoma." <u>J Clin Invest.</u> 121(10): 4106-4117.
- Infinity pharmaceuticals. <u>http://phx.corporate-ir.net/pheonix.zhtml?c=12194&p=irol-newsArticle&ID=1653550&highlight=</u> (accessed 09.08.13)
- Iyer, A. K. V., Tran, K. T., Griffith, L., & Wells, A. (2008). "Cell surface restriction of EGFR by a tenascin cytotactin-encoded EGF-like repeat is preferential for motility-related signaling." <u>J Cell Physiol.</u> 214(2): 504-512.
- Kalluri, R., & Neilson, E. G. (2003). "Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis." <u>J Clin Invest.</u> **112**(12): 1776-1784.
- Jackson, E. L., Willis, N., Mercer, K., Bronson, R. T., Crowley, D., Montoya, R., Jacks, T., & Tuveson, D. A. (2001). "Analysis of lung tumor initiation and progression using conditional expressio of oncogenic K-ras." <u>Genes Dev</u> 15(24): 3243-3248.
- Jacobetz, M.A., D.S. Chan, et al. Jacobetz, J. A., Chan, D. S., Neesse, A., Bapiro, T. A., Cook, N., Frese, K. K., Feig, C., Nakagawa, T., Caldwell, M. E., Zecchini, H. I., Lolkema, M. P., Jiang, P., Kultti, A., Thompson, C. B., Maneval, D. C., Jodrell, D. I., Frost, G. I., Shepard, H. M., Skepper, J. N., & Tuveson, D. A. (2013). "Hyaluronan impairs vascular function and drug delivery in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer." <u>Gut</u> 62(1): 112-120.
- Jaffee, E. M., Hruban, R. H., Canto, M., & Kern, S. E. (2002). "Focus on pancreas cancer." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **2**(1): 25-28.
- Jahkola, T., Toivonen, T., Virtanen, I., von Smitten, K., Nordling, S., von Boguslawski, K., & Blomqvist, C. (1998). "Tenascin-C expression in invasion border of early breast cancer: a predictor of local and distant recurrence." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **78**(11): 1507-1513.
- Jamieson, T., Clarke, M., Steele, C. W., Samuel, M. S., Neumann, J., Jung, A., Huels, D., Olson, M. F., Das, D., Nibbs, R. J. B., & Sansom, O. J. (2012).
  "Inhibition of CXCR2 profoundly suppresses inflammation-driven and spontaneous tumorigenesis." <u>J Clin Invest.</u> 122(9): 3127-3144.
- Jang, S., & Atkins, M. B. (2013). "Which drug, and when, for patients with BRAFmutant melanoma?" <u>Lancet Oncol.</u> **14**(2):e60-69.
- Jones, P. L., & Jones, F. S. (2000). "Tenascin-C in development and disease: gene regulation and cell function." <u>Matrix Biol.</u> **19**(7): 581-596.

- Juuti, A., Nordling, S., Louhimo, J., Lundin, J., & Haglund, C. (2004). "Tenascin C expression is upregulated in pancreatic cancer and correlates with differentiation." <u>J Clin</u> Pathol. 57(11):1151-1155.
- Kagan, H. M., & Trackman, P. C. (1991). "Properties and function of lysyl oxidase." <u>Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.</u> **5**(3):206-210.
- Kagan, H. M., & Li, W. (2003). "Lysyl oxidase: properties, specificity, and biological roles inside and outside of the cell." <u>J Cell Biochem.</u> **88**(4): 660-672.
- Kaneider, N. C., Agarwal, A., Leger, A. J., & Kuliopulos, A. (2005). "Reversing systemic inflammatory response syndrome with chemokine receptor pepducins." <u>Nat Med.</u> **11**(6): 661-665.
- Kern, S., Hruban, R., Hollingsworth, M. A., Brand, R., Adrian, T. E., Jaffee, E., & Tempero, M. A. (2001). "A white paper: the product of a pancreas cancer think tank." <u>Cancer Res</u> 61(12): 4923-4932.
- Kirschmann, D. A., Seftor, E. A., Fong, S. F., Nieva, D. R., Sullivan, C. M., Edwards, E. M., & Hendrix, M. J. (2002). "A molecular role for lysyl oxidase in breast cancer invasion." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 62(15): 4478-4483.
- Klein, G., Beck, S., & Müller, C. A. (1993). "Tenascin is a cytoadhesive extracellular matrix component of the human hematopoietic microenvironment." <u>J Cell Biol.</u> **123**(4): 1027-1035.
- Kloepper, J. E., Tiede, S., Brinckmann, J., Reinhardt, D. P., Meyer, W., Faessler, R., & Paus, R. (2008). "Immunophenotyping of the human bulge region: the quest to define useful *in situ* markers for human epithelial hair follicle stems cells and their niche." <u>Exp Dermatol.</u> **17**(7): 592-609.
- Kraman, M., Bambrough, P. J., Arnold, J. N., Roberts, E. W., Magiera, L., Jones, J. O., Tuveson, D. A., & Fearon, D. T. (2010). "Suppression of antitumor immunity by stromal cells expressing fibroblast activation protein-alpha." <u>Science</u> 330(6005): 827-830.
- Kuwada, Y., Sasaki, T., Morinaka, K., Kitadai, Y., Mukaida, N., & Chayama,
   K. (2003). "Potential involvement of IL-8 and its receptors in the invasiveness of pancreatic cancer cells." <u>Int J Oncol.</u> 22(4): 765-771.
- Lehr, H. A., van der Loss, C. M., Teeling, P., & Gown, A. M. (1999). "Complete separation and analysis in double immunohistochemical stains using Photoshop-based image analysis." <u>J Histochem Cytochem.</u> **47**(1):119-126.
- Le, Q. T., Harris, J., Magliocco, A. M., Kong, C. S., Diaz, R., Shin, B., & Ang, K. K. (2009). "Validation of lysyl oxidase as a prognostic marker for metastasis and survival in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: Radiation Therapy Oncology Group trial 90-03." J Clin Oncol. 27(26): 4281-4286.

- Levental, K. R., Yu, H., Kass, L., Lakins, J. N., Egeblad, M., Erler, J. T., & Weaver, V. M. (2009). "Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling." Cell 139(5): 891-906.
- Li, A., King, J., Moro, A., Sugi, M. D., Dawson, D. W., Kaplan, J., & Hines, O. J. (2011). "Overexpression of CXCL5 is associated with poor survival in patients with pancreatic cancer." <u>Am J Pathol.</u> **178**(3): 1340-1349.
- Li, A., Cheng, X. J., Moro, A., Singh, R. K., Hines, O. J., & Eibl, G. (2011). "CXCR2-Dependent Endothelial Progenitor Cell Mobilization in Pancreatic Cancer Growth." <u>Transl Oncol.</u> **4**(1): 20-28.
- Liu, Z., Yang, L., Xu, J., Zhang, X., & Wang, B. (2011). "Enhanced expression and clinical significance of chemokine receptor CXCR2 in hepatocellular carcinoma." <u>J Surg Res.</u> 166(2): 241-246.
- Marotte, H., Ruth, J. H., Campbell, P. L., Koch, A. E., & Ahmed, S. (2010). "Green tea extract inhibits chemokine production, but up-regulates chemokine receptor expression, in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts and rat adjuvant-induced arthritis." <u>Rheumatology (Oxford)</u> **49**(3): 467-479.
- Maschler, S., Grunert, S., Danielopol, A., Beug, H., & Wirl, G. (2004). "Enhanced tenascin-C expression and matrix deposition during Ras/TGF-beta-induced progression of mammary tumor cells." <u>Oncogene</u> **23**(20): 3622-3633.
- Matsuo, Y., Ding, Q., Desaki, R., Maemura, K., Mataki, Y., Shinchi, H., & Takao, S. (2013). "Hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha plays a pivotal role in hepatic metastasis of pancreatic cancer: an immunohistochemical study." <u>J</u> <u>Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci.</u> 10.1002/jhbp.6.
- Matsuo, Y., Ochi, N., Sawai, H., Yasuda, A., Takahashi, H., Funahashi, H., & Guha, S. (2009). "CXCL8/IL-8 and CXCL12/SDF-1alpha co-operatively promote invasiveness and angiogenesis in pancreatic cancer." <u>Int J Cancer</u> 124(4): 853-861.
- Mentzel, T., Brown, L. F., Dvorak, H. F., Kuhnen, C., Stiller, K. J., Katenkamp, D., & Fletcher, C. D. M. (2001). "The association between tumour progression and vascularity in myxofibrosarcoma and myxoid/round cell liposarcoma." <u>Virchows Arch.</u> 438(1):13-22.
- Mestas, J., Burdick, M. D., Reckamp, K., Pantuck, A., Figlin, R. A., & Strieter, R. M. (2005). "The role of CXCR2/CXCR2 ligand biological axis in renal cell carcinoma." <u>J Immunol.</u> **175**(8): 5351-5357.
- Midwood, K., Sacre, S., Piccinini, A. M., Inglis, J., Trebaul, A., Chan, E., & Foxwell, B. (2009). "Tenascin-C is an endogenous activator of Toll-like receptor 4 that is essential for maintaining inflammation in arthritic joint disease." <u>Nat</u> <u>Med.</u> 15(7): 774-780.

- Moore, M. J., Goldstein, D., Hamm, J., Figer, A., Hecht, J. R., Gallinger, S., & Parulekar, W. (2007). "Erlotinib plus gemcitabine compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: aphase III trial of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group." <u>J Clin</u> <u>Oncol.</u> 25(15):1960-1966.
- Morton, J. P., Timpson, P., Karim, S. A., Ridgway, R. A., Athineos, D., Doyle, B., Jamieson, N. B., Oien, K. A., Lowy, A. M., Brunton, V. G., Frame, M. C., Evans, T. R. J., & Sansom, O. J. (2010). "Mutant p53 drives metastasis and overcomes growth arrest/senescence in pancreatic cancer." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci USA.</u> **107**(1): 246-251.
- Murphy, P.M., (2001). "Chemokines and the molecular basis of cancer metastasis." <u>N Engl J Med.</u> **345**(11): 833-5.
- Murphy-ullrich, J.E., (2001). "The de-adhesive activity of matricellular proteins: is intermediate cell adhesion an adaptive state?" <u>J Clin Invest.</u> **107**(7): 785-790.
- Neesse, A., Michl, P., Frese, K. K., Feig, C., Cook, N., Jacobetz, M. A., & Tuveson, D. A. (2011). "Stromal biology and therapy in pancreatic cancer." <u>Gut</u> 60(6): 861-868.
- Nishio, T., Kawaguchi, S., Yamamoto, M., Iseda, T., Kawasaki, T., & Hase, T. (2005). "Tenascin-C regulates proliferation and migration of cultured astrocytes in a scratch wound assay." <u>Neuroscience</u> **132**(1): 87-102.
- Nozawa, H., Chiu, C., & Hanahan, D. (2006). "Infitrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u> **103**(33):12493-12498.
- Ohri, C. M., Shikotra, A., Green, R. H., Waller, D. A., & Bradding, P. (2010).
   "Chemokine receptor expression in tumour islets and stroma in non-small cell lung cancer." <u>BMC Cancer</u> 10:172.
- Olive, K. P., Tuveson, D. A., Ruhe, Z. C., Yin, B., Willis, N. A., Bronson, R. T., & Jacks, T. (2004). "Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome." <u>Cell</u> **119**(6): 847-860.
- Olive, K. P., Jacobetz, M. A., Davidson, C. J., Gopinathan, A., McIntyre, D., Honess, D., & Tuveson, D. A. (2009). "Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer." <u>Science</u> **324**(5933): 1457-1461.
- Osawa, T., Ohga, N., Akiyama, K., Hida, Y., Kitayama, K., Kawamoto, T., & Hida, K. (2013). "Lysyl oxidase secreted by tumour endothelial cells promotes angiogenesis and metastasis." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **109**(8): 2237-2247.
- Oskarsson, T., Acharyya, S., Zhang, X. H., Vanharanta, S., Tavazoie, S. F., Morris, P. G., & Massagué, J. (2011). "Breast cancer cells produce tenascin C as a metastatic niche component to colonize the lungs." <u>Nat Med.</u> 17(7): 867-874.
- PaszeK, M. J., Zahir, N., Johnson, K. R., Lakins, J. N., Rozenberg, G. I., Gefen, A., & Weaver, V. M. (2005). "Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype." <u>Cancer Cell</u> 8(3): 241-254.
- Payne, S. L., Hendrix, M. J., & Kirschmann, D. A. (2007). "Paradoxical roles for lysyl oxidases in cancer—a prospect." <u>J Cell Biochem</u> **101**(6): 1338-1354.
- Provenzano, P. P., Cuevas, C., Chang, A. E., Goel, V. K., Von Hoff, D. D., & Hingorani, S. R. (2012). "Enzymatic targeting of the stroma ablates physical barriers to treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **21**(3): 418-429.
- Rainczuk, A., Rao, J., Gathercole, J., & Stephens, A. N. (2012). "The emerging role of CXC chemokines in epithelial ovarian cancer." <u>Reproduction</u> 144(3): 303-317.
- Raman, D., Baugher, P. J., Thu, Y. M., & Richmond, A. (2007). "Role of chemokines in tumor growth." <u>Cancer Lett.</u> **256**(2): 137-165.
- Ramos, D. M., Chen, B. L., Boylen, K., Stern, M., Kramer, R. H., Sheppard, D., & Pytela, R. (1997). "Stromal fibroblasts influence oral squamous-cell carcinoma cell interactions with tenascin-C." <u>Int J Cancer</u> 72(2):369-376.
- Reiland, J., Furcht, L. T., & McCarthy, J. B. (1999). "CXC-chemokines stimulate invasion and chemotaxis in prostate carcinoma cells through the CXCR2 receptor." <u>Prostate</u> 41(2): 78-88.
- Ruiz, C., Huang, W., Hegi, M. E., Lange, K., Hamou, M. F., Fluri, E., & Orend, G. (2004). "Growth promoting signalling by tenascin-C [corrected]." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Res.</u> 64(20):7377-7385.
- Sharma, B., Nawandar, D. M., Nannuru, K. C., Varney, M. L., & Singh, R. K. (2013). "Targeting CXCR2 enhances chemotherapeutic response, inhibits mammary tumor growth, angiogenesis, and lulng metastasis." <u>Mol Cancer</u> <u>Ther.</u> **12**(5): 799-808.
- Shaw, P., Bovey, R., Tardy, S., Sahli, R., Sordat, B., & Costa, J. (1992).
  "Induction of apoptosis by wild-type p53 in a human colon tumor-derived cell line." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> USA 89(10): 4495-4499.
- Sharma, B., Nawandar, D. M., Nannuru, K. C., Varney, M. L., & Singh, R. K. (2013). "Targeting CXCR2 enhances chemotherapeutic response, inhibits

mammary tumor growth, angiogenesis, and lulng metastasis." <u>Mol Cancer</u> <u>Ther.</u> **12**(5): 799-808.

- Sica, A., & Mantovani, A. (2012). "Macrophage plasticity and polarization: *in vivo* veritas." <u>J Clin Invest.</u> **122**(3): 787-795.
- Singh, S., Sadanandam, A., & Singh, R. K. (2007). "Chemokines in tumor angiogenesis and metastasis." <u>Cancer Metastasis Rev.</u> **26**(3-4): 453-467.
- Singh, S., Singh, A. P., Sharma, B., Owen, L. B., & Singh, R. K. (2010). "CXCL8 and its cognate receptors in melanoma progression and metastasis." <u>Future</u> <u>Oncol.</u> 6(1): 111-116.
- Smit, V. T., Boot, A. J., Smits, A. M., Fleuren, G. J., Cornelisse, C. J., & Bos, J. L. (1988). "KRAS codon 12 mutations occur very frequently in pancreatic adenocarcinomas." <u>Nucleic Acids Res.</u> 16(16): 7773-7782.
- Smith, H. A., & Kang, Y. (2013). "The metastasis-promoting roles of tumorassociated immune cells." J. Mol. Med. (Berl) **91**(4): 411-429.
- Soehnlein, O., Drechsler, M., Döring, Y., Lievens, D., Hartwig, H., Kemmerich, K., & Weber, C. (2013). "Distinct functions of chemokine receptor axes in the arthrogenic mobilization and recruitment of classical monocytes." <u>EMBO</u> <u>Mol Med.</u> 5(3): 471-481.
- Sparmann, A., & Bar-Sagi, D. (2004). "Ras-induced interleukin-8 expression plays a critical role in tumor growth and angiogenesis." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **6**(5): 447-458.
- Sriramarao, P., Mendler, M., & Bourdon, M. A. (1993). "Endothelial cell attachment and spreading on human tenascin is mediated by alpha 2 beta 1 and alpha v beta 3 integrins." J Cell Sci **105**(4): 1001-1012.
- Strachan, T., A.P. Read. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, New York: Wiley-Liss; 1999. "Human Molecular Genetics".
- Stadtmann, A., & Zarbock, A. (2012). "CXCR2: From Bench to Bedside." <u>Front</u> <u>Immunol.</u> 3:263.
- Strieter, R. M., Burdick, M. D., Mestas, J., Gomperts, B., Keane, M. P., & Belperio, J. A. (2006). "Cancer CXC chemokine networks and tumour angiogenesis." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> 42(6): 768-778.
- Takamori, H., Oades, Z. G., Hoch, R. C., Burger, M., & Schraufstatter, I. U. (2000). "Autocrine growth effect of IL-8 and GROalpha on a human pancreatic cancer cell line, Capan-1." <u>Pancreas</u> 21(1): 52-56.
- Takaoka, K., Hidaka, S., Hashitani, S., Segawa, E., Yamamura, M., Tanaka, N., & Urade, M. (2013). "Effect of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor and a CXC chemokine receptor-4 antagonist on tumor growth and metastasis in a

xenotransplanted mouse model of adenoid cystic carcinoma of the oral floor." Int J Oncol **43**(3): 737-745.

- Tanaka, K., Hiraiwa, N., Hashimoto, H., Yamazaki, Y., & Kusakabe, M. (2004). "Tenascin-C regulates angiogenesis in tumor through the regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression." <u>Int J Cancer</u> **108**(1): 31-40.
- Tanaka, S. I., Sumioka, T., Fujita, N., Kitano, A., Okada, Y., Yamanaka, O., & Saika, S. (2010). "Suppression of injury-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in a mouse lens epithelium lacking tenascin-C." <u>Mol Vis.</u> 16:1194-1205.
- Taraseviciute, A., Vincent, B. T., Schedin, P., & Jones, P. L. (2010). "Quantitative analysis of three-dimensional human mammary epithelial tissue architecture reveals a role for tenascin c in regulating c-met function." <u>Am J</u> <u>Pathol.</u> 176(2): 827-838.
- Tazzyman, S., Lewis, C. E., & Murdoch, C. (2009). "Neutrophils: key mediators of tumour angiogenesis." <u>Int J Exp Pathol</u> **90**(3): 222-231.
- Thomasset, N., Lochter, A., Sympson, C. J., Lund, L. R., Williams, D. R., Behrendtsen, O., & Bissell, M. J. (1998). "Expression of autoactivated stromelysin-1 in mammary glands of transgenic mice leads to a reactive stroma during early development." <u>Am J Pathol.</u> 153(2): 457-467.
- Tlsty, T.D., (1998). "Cell-adhesion-dependent influences on genomic instability and carcinogenesis." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **10**(5): 647-653.
- Van Es, J. M., Polak, M. M., Van den Berg, F. M., Ramsoekh, T. B., Craanen, M. E., Hruban, R. H., & Offerhaus, G. J. (1995). "Molecular markers for diagnostic cytology of neoplasms in the head region of the pancreas: mutation of K-ras and overexpression of the p53 protein product." <u>J Clin Pathol</u> 48(3): 218-222.
- Van Coillie, E., Van Aelst, I., Wuyts, A., Vercauteren, R., Devos, R., De Wolf-Peeters, C., & Opdenakker, G. (2001). "Tumor angiogenesis induced by granulocyte chemotactic protein-2 as a countercurrent principle." <u>Am J</u> <u>Pathol.</u> 159(4): 1405-1414.
- Van Meeteren, L.A., & ten Dijke, P. (2012). "Regulation of endothelial cell plasticity by TGF-β." <u>Cell Tissue Res.</u> **347**(1): 177-186.
- Varnum-Finney, B., Venstrom, K., Muller, U., Kypta, R., Backus, C., Chiquet, M., & Reichardt, L. F. (1995). "The integrin receptor alpha 8 beta 1 mediates interactions of embryonic chick motor and sensory neurons with tenascin-C." <u>Neuron.</u> 14(6): 1213-1222.

- Veenstra, M., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2012). "Chemokine receptor CXCR2: physiology regulator and neuroinflammation controller?" <u>J Neuroimmunol.</u> 246(1-2): 1-9.
- Wang, B., Hendricks, D. T., Wamunyokoli, F., & Parker, M. I. (2006). "A growthrelated oncogene/CXC chemokine receptor 2 autocrine loop contributes to cellular proliferation in esophageal cancer." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 66(6): 3071-3077.
- Wang, B., Liu, K., Lin, H. Y., Bellam, N., Ling, S., & Lin, W. C. (2010). "14-3-3Tau regulates ubiquitin-independent proteasomal degredation of p21, a novel mechanism of p21 downregulation in breast cancer." <u>Mol Cell Biol.</u> **30**(6): 1508-1527.
- Weaver, V. M., Petersen, O. W., Wang, F., Larabell, C. A., Briand, P., Damsky, C., & Bissell, M. J. (1997). "Reversion of the malignant phenotype of human breast cancer cells in three-dimensional culture and *in vivo* by integrin blocking antibodies." <u>J Cell Biol.</u> **137**(1): 231-245.
- Wehr, A. Y., Furth, E. E., Sangar, V., Blair, I. A., & Yu, K. H. (2011). "Analysis of the human pancreatic stellate cell secreted proteome." <u>Pancreas</u> 40(4): 557-566.
- Wenk, M. B., Midwood, K. S., & Schwarzbauer, J. E. (2000). "Tenascin-C suppresses Rho activation." <u>J Cell Biol.</u> **150**(4): 913-920.
- Wente, M. N., Keane, M. P., Burdick, M. D., Friess, H., Büchler, M. W., Ceyhan, G. O., & Hines, O. J. (2006). "Blockade of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 inhibits pancreatic cancer cell-induced angiogenesis." <u>Cancer Lett.</u> 241(2): 221-227.
- Xie, J., & Itzkowitz, S. H. (2008). "Cancer in inflammatory bowel disease." <u>World J</u> <u>Gastroenterol.</u> **14**(3): 378-389.
- Yang, G., Rosen, D. G., Liu, G., Yang, F., Guo, X., Xiao, X., & Liu, J. (2010).
  "CXCR2 promotes ovarian cancer growth through dysregulated cell cycle, diminished apoptosis, and enhanced angiogenesis." <u>Clin Cancer Res.</u> 16(15): 3875-3886.
- Yauch, R.L., & Settleman, J. (2012). "Recent advances in pathway-targeted cancer drug therapies emerging fomr cancer genome analysis." <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Genet Dev.</u> 22(1): 45-49.
- Yeung, T., Georges, P. C., Flanagan, L. A., Marg, B., Ortiz, M., Funaki, M., & Janmey, P. A. (2005). "Effects of substrate stiffness on cell morphology, cytoskeletal structure, and adhesion." <u>Cell motil Cytoskeleton</u> 60(1):24-34.
- Yokosaki, Y., Palmer, E. L., Prieto, A. L., Crossin, K. L., Bourdon, M. A., Pytela, R., & Sheppard, D. ( (1994). "The integrin alpha 9 beta 1 mediates cell

attachment to a non-RGD site in the third fibronectin type III repeat of tenascin." <u>J Biol Chem.</u> **269**(43): 26691-26696.

- Yokosaki, Y., Monis, H., Chen, J., & Sheppard, D. (1996). "Differential effects of the integrins alpha9beta1, alphavbeta3, and alphavbeta6 on cell prolifertion responses to tenascin. Roles of the beta subunit extracellular and cytoplasmic domains." <u>J Biol Chem.</u> 271(39): 24144-24150.
- Zítka, O., Kukacka, J., Krizkov, S., Húska, D., Adam, V., Masarik, M., & Kizek, R. (2010). "Matrix metalloproteinases." <u>Curr Med Chem.</u> **17**(31): 3751-3768.